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EARTHJUSTICE

Re: Notice of Violations and Intent to File Suit under the Endangered Species Act

SecretarnRoss, Mr. Oliver, and M. Bullard

TKH &RQVHUYDWLRQ /D Z anR 26QoGrisaMHaRju3ticélderghby give
notice pursuant to 16 U.S.C. & 1540(gpaf intent to sue the U.S. Department of Commerce,

the Secretary of Commerce, the National Ocean and Atmospheric AdDIMSELRQ TV 1DWLRQD (
ODULQH )LVKHULHYVY 6HUYLFH DQG WKH $VVLVWDQW $GPLQLV\
JLVKHULHV™ RU WKH 3$JHQF\" IRU YLRODWLRQV RI WKH (QGDC
seq., specified below. The alleged violatiot@encern the effects of the American lobster fishery

on the endangered North Atlantic right whallefalaena glacialis

to file suit in United States District Court seeking appropriate declaratory relief, injunctive relief,

SULJKW ZKDOH"’

and dher relief no earlier than sixty days from the postmark date of this notice letter.
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CLF is located in New England, whose ocean waters are an important part of the right
ZKDOHYVY GHVLJQDWHG FULWLFDO KDELWDW &ptoimote ORQJ E|
the recovery of the right whale, which is unique to the Atlantic coast. The right whale is one of
the most endangered whale species in the world, with an estimated population of 458 individuals
in 2015. Richard M. Pace Il et abzate-space mark-recapture estimates reveal a recent decline
in abundance of North Atlantic right whales, 7(21)ECOLOGY & EVOLUTION 1 (2017). After a
brief period of some population increases, the right whale population has been steadily declining
since 2010./d.

Right whales are deeply connected to the history, economy, and culture of New England,
DQG WR WKH KHDOWK RI LWV RFHDQ HFRV\VWHPV &/) DQG L\
declining abundance, the troubling number of recent mortalities, tiiagpes threat of
HQWDQJOHPHQW LQ ILVKLQJ JHDU DQG UHJXODWRUVY IDLOX!
ZKLFK MHRSDUGL]H WKH VSHFLHVY YHU\ VXUYLYDO DW WKLV .
particularly deadly year, with at least setemm confirmed right whale mortaliti@sequivalent to
about 3 percent of the populatideading the Agency to declare an unusual mortality event
under the Marine Mammal Protection AMOAA FISHERIES 2017 North Atlantic Right Whale
Unusual Mortality Event (Oct. 31, 2017}. See also NOAA FISHERIES NORTHATLANTIC RIGHT
WHALE (EUBALAENA GLACIALIS) 5-Y EAR REVIEW: SUMMARY AND EVALUATION 12 (Oct. 2017)
>KHUHLQDKWBU S5SHYHHRZFFRUGLQJ WR 12$% )LVKHULHVY RZQ VW]
entanglement in fishingear is a leading cause of attributable humaimsed right whale
mortalities and serious injurieSee Sean A. Hayes et alJS Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico
Marine Mammal Stock Assessments — 2016 (NOAA Tech. Memo. 2017) 134, tbl.1 (2017)
(reporting thafishery-related entanglement accounted for 80 percent of reported right whale
mortality and serious injury cases in 202014). NOAA Fisheries must take immediate action
to prevent further serious harm from commercial fishing operations that is jeapattie
VSHFLHVY FRQWLQXHG H[LVWHQFH

As outlined herein12$$ J)LVKHULHVY FRQWLQXHG DXWKRUL]DWLRC
RI WKH $PHULFDQ OREVWHU ILVKHU\ LV FDXVLQJ WKH XQDXW|
Section 9 of the Endangeredegies Act, 16 U.S.C. o 1538.

NOAA Fisheries also is in violation of Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act, 16
8 6 & ¥ EHFDXVH LW LV D IHGHUDO DJHQF\ WKDW LV IDLO
permitting, and oversight of the operatoh W KH $PHULFDQ OREVWHU ILVKHU\ 3L
MHRSDUGL]H WKH FRQWLQXHG H[LVWH@EH BR6EQRBDQIHUHG U
analyzing the effects of the American lobster fishery on right whales, NOAA Fisheries relies on
a biological opinon that is fundamentally flawed and is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of
discretion, and not in accordance with law, in violation of the Endangered SpeciescAdt §
1536) and the Administrative Procedure fseie 5 U.S.C. o 706).See GREATERATLANTIC
REGIONAL FISHERIESOFF., ENDANGERED SPECIESACT SECTION 7 CONSULTATION ON THE

1 http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/health/mmume/2017northatlanticrightwhaleume.html.
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CONTINUED IMPLEMENTATION OFMANAGEMENT MEASURES FOR THEAMERICAN LOBSTER
FISHERY [CONSULTATION NO. NER-201411076] - X O\ >KHUHLQDIWHU 3/REV\

In addition, NOAA Fisheries has failed to reinitiate consultation regarding the effects of
the American lobster fishery on right whales as required by law. NOAA Fisheries has a duty to
reinitiate consultation in light of recent right whale deaths, new informabont the right
whale population, and new information regarding the impacts of commercial fishing activities.
See 50 C.F.R. @ 402.16; Lobster BiOppra, @12 7KH DJHQF\TV IDLOXUH WR UHLC(
consultation isn violation of the Endangered Species et 16 U.S.Cxra 1536), andrbitrary
and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance with law, in violation of the
Administrative Procedure A¢tee 5 U.S.C. aa 70%06).

NOAA Fisheries is also subject to, and in violation of, the Marine Mammal Protection
Act, 16 U.S.C. aa 1371(a), 138The Agency has failed to authorize incidental take of right
whales in the American lobster fishery by issuing an incidental take staw¥meh, 76~ WKDW
FRPSOLHV ZLWK WKH ODULQH ODPPDO 3URWHFWLRQ $FWTV UF
take other appropriate action as necessary to protect right whales from the continued operation of
the American lobster fishergee 16 U.S.Cox 137.(a), 1387. A a consequence of these
statutory violations, the Agency is in violation of tlarineMammalProtectionAct and the
Administrative Procedure ActSee 5 U.S.C. aa 70%06.

If NOAA Fisheries does not take appropriate action within sieys to cure the
violations outlined in this notice letter, our organizations will file suit and pursue appropriate
remedies. However, we would prefer to avoid litigation, thereby allowing the parties to focus
their resources on solutions for right whptetection and recovery. Avoiding litigation is also
in the interests of the American lobster industry. Regulators and lobster fishermen appear
FRPPLWWHG WR DYRLGLQJ ULIJKW ZKDOH HQWDQJOHPHQWYV D!
LQGXVWU\TV i tireUighitwvhadeRsgddies is in a dire condition and rates of
entanglement remain high. Immediate action by the Agency is necessary, and required by law,
to protect right whales from U.S. commercial fishing operations and forestall the threat of
extindion ?

2 Crossborder action and Canadian action is also urgently necessary considering that some right whale mortalities,
serious injuries, and entanglements in recent years have been observed in Canadian waters, including twelve deaths

in 2017. Accord Sean W. Billant et al.,4 timely opportunity to protect North Atlantic right whales in Canada, 81

MARINE PoL ¥ 160 (2017).See, e.g., NOAA FISHERIES 2017 North Atlantic Right Whale Unusual Mortality Event,

supra (documenting five live whale entanglements andvyeveight whale deaths in Canada in 2017, but also

reporting that U.S. mortalities exceeded Canadiartatities for the period 20186). See also Five-Year Review,

supra, at 21 (noting that right whale distribution is shifting northward into Canadiagrs)atNOAA Fisheries has
UHFRJQL]HG D GLVSDULW\ EHWZHHQ HIIRUWY XQGHUWDNHQ E\ WKH JRYH!
ZKDOH HQWDQJOHP HQA Reviddidra, at 20. “In arheffekrt to promote implementation of

transboudary protection measures, NOAA Fisheries recently classified Canadian fisheries in its draft List of

JRUHLJQ )LVKHULHV VXEMHFW WR WKH 0ODULQH ODPPDO 3URWHFWLRQ $FW
products imported to the United Statedéoharvested in accordance with conservation measures comparable to

those of the United StateSee 81 FED. REG. 54,389 (Aug. 15, 2016); 82eD. REG. 39,762 (Aug. 22, 2017). The

United States must continue to collaborate with Canada and intensify efforts to reduce risks to right whales

throughout their rangeCf. Five-Year Reviewsupra D W VWDWLQJ WKDW WKH $JHQF\ 3ZLOO F

Il
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BACKGROUND

A. Conservation Law Foundation

Founded in 1966, CLF is a nqmofit, membersupported environmental organization
ZLWK RIILFHVY LQ ODVVDFKXVHWWY ODLQH 1HZ +DPSVKLUH 9
advocates use law, science, and econdmmi? R VROYH WKH SUREOHPV WKUHDWH
natural resources and communities. For decades, CLF has worked to promote marine
FRQVHUYDWLRQ DQG VWHZDUGVKLS DQlegandhrlotéanOL]DWLRQ F
resources. CLF and its members hawggnificant interest in ensuring the survival of the right
whale. The entanglement of right whales and the alarming decline of the species adversely affect
WKH LQWHUHVWYVY RI &/)YV PHPEHUYV

Protection of right whales has long been a concern of CLFheld270s and 1980s, CLF
challenged proposed oil and gas lease sales on the outer continental shelf in part due to potential
impacts to endangered right whafet the 1990s, CLF participated as@micus curiae in
litigation under the Endangered Spedies concerning the impacts of commercial fishing gear,
including lobster gear, on right whaleSee Strahan v. Coxe, 939 F. Supp. 963 (D. Mass. 1996),
aff’d in part and vacated in part, 127 F.3d 155 (1st Cir. 199%krt. denied, 525 U.S. 978 (1998).
Eleanor Dorsey, CLF Staff Scientist, served on the Atlantic Large Whale Take Reduction Team
formed in 1996 to develop recommendations for reducing incidental take of right whales and
other large whales in commercial fishing operatio$ts: Atlantic Large Whale Take Reduction
Plan, 62FED. REG. -X 0\ >KHUHLQ D Mure t¢céiitly, ThRBsued
NOAA Fisheries for violations of the Endangered Species Act related to right whale
entanglements in fishing gear and forced the agency to amend its fisheries management
regulations to address threats to right whales. Conservation Law Found. v. Evans, Civil
Action No. 0612069DPW (D. Mass. 2001).

JRU GHFDGHV &/) KDV DOVR EHHQ FORVHO\ HQJDJHG LQ |
fisheries resources. CLF has long advocated for NOAA Fisheries, the New England Fishery
Management Couiicand the Atlantic States Commission to end overfishing, promote recovery
of overfished stocks, protect essential fish habitat, restore forage fish stocks, mitigate adverse
impacts to marine mammals, and pursue ecosybtssad fishery management apprasch
2YHUDOO &/)YV ILVKHULHY ZRUN WKURXJK SDUWLFLSDWLRQ
the protection and recovery of right whales by promoting the health and vibrancy of New
(QJODQGTYV PDULQH HFRVA\WVWHPYVY DQG IRRGZHE

SDUWQHUVKLS ZLWK &DQDGD RQ ULJKW ZKDOH FRQVHUYDWLRQ"~ ,PSRUW
threats in Canadian waters does not obviate the urgent need for, nor alleviate requirements under U.S. law that
mandate, the Agency to take atitatial action to protect right whales in U.S. waters.

3 See, e.g., Conservation Law Found. v. Watt, 586 F. Supp. 1238 (D. Mass. 198%yssachusetts v. Clark, 594 F.
Supp. 1373 (D. Mass. 1984)pnservation Law Found. v. Watt, 560 F. Supp. 561 (D. Massa){'d sub

nom. Massachusetts v. Watt, 716 F.2d 946 (1st Cir. 1983)pnservation Law Found. v. Andrus, 623 F.2d 712 (1st
Cir. 1979),amended, (1st Cir. Feb. 22, 1980).
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Additionally, CLF h& been actively engaged in ensuring the successful development and
LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ RI WKH 1RUWKHDVW 5HJLRQDO 2FHDQ 30D
associated Northeast Ocean Data Portal. The Northeast Regional Ocean Plan sets forth a
bluepULQW IRU HIILFLHQW DQG VXVWDLQDEOH XWLOL]DWLRQ RI
through longterm planning, improved intergovernmental and interagency coordination, and
decisionmaking based on the best available science and extensive st@kedmgdgement.
Continued implementation of the Northeast Regional Ocean Plan will help protect right whales
by ensuring that any federal actions in federal ocean waters take into account the best available
science and information about right whales arielcaéd stakeholders.

CLF is also directly engaged in protecting right whales from risks associated with
offshore wind development in wind energy areas in federal waters off the coast of New England.
Together with a coalition of advocacy groups, CLF warddtaboratively with offshore wind
energy developers to establish mutually agreed upon survey, development, and operations
protocols to protect right whales and other marine resources. CLF and a number of other
conservation organizations signed a volepnagreement with Deepwater Wind, LLC that sets
forth a suite of mitigation measures to protect right whales during certain site assessment and
characterization activities necessary for offshore wind energy development in the Rhode
Island/Massachusetts WirEnergy Area.

B. Management of the American Lobster Fishery

The American lobster fishery is managed by the Atlantic States Commission in a
cooperative management scheme between the States and the federal government under
Amendment 3 to the Interstate Fish&anagement Plan and Addenda thereto and NOAA
Fisheries regulationsSee 50 C.F.R. pt. 697. Lobster Management Areas span from Maine to
North Carolina, but the primary area of harvest is the Gulf of Maine, which is fished primarily by
Maine, Massachu#ts, and New Hampshire fishermesee id. @ 697.18; Lobster BiOpupra, at
9, 12. The lobster fishery is the most active fegedr fishery in the region; though multiple
gear types are used, trap or pot gear accounts for 98 percent of larfingsbster BiOp,
supra, at 8, 9.

The Atlantic States Commission is comprised of state and federal government
representatives, as established by interstate comfacPuB. L. 77-539; PuB. L. 81-721.
Under theAtlantic Coastal Fisheries Cooperative Managetvect, 16 U.S.C. ©%101ef segq.,
the Atlantic States Commission must prepare and adopt management plans for coastal fisheries,
including the American lobster fishenAll commercial fishermen harvesting lobster in federal
waters, with limited exceptionare required to have a federal permit as well as a state permit for
where the lobster is landed. Federal rules apply regardless of whether lobster fishing occurs in
state or federal watersee 50 C.F.R. & 697.3, 697.4, 697.19.

C. The Endangered Specieéct

The purpose of the Endangered Species Act is to conserve endangered and threatened
species and the ecosystems on which they depfefdl6 U.S.C. @ 1531(b). Endangered
species are those so listed by the Secretary of the IntStierd. @ 1533(a)()1 & (2). The
Endangered Species Act imposes a continuing and affirmative duty on federal agencies to
SLQVXUH WKDW DQ\ DFWLRQ DXWKRUL]JHG IXQGHG RU FDUUL

1&81#
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jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered speogssibin the destruction or
DGYHUVH PRGLILFDWLRQdRII53I6W)R)FULWLFDO KDELWDW

Federal agencies, including NOAA Fisheries, are required to consult with the Secretary
of Commerce (whose jurisdiction includes marine spectef0 C.F.R. ©224.101) or the
Secretary of the Interior regarding any agency action to insure that it is not likely to jeopardize
the continued existence of any endangered species. 16 U.S.C. @ 1536(a). In a case where
NOAA Fisheries is both the acting agency and thesalting agency, NOAA Fisheries must
engage inintraDJHQF\ FRQVXOWDWLRQ :KHQ 3LQVXULQJ" QR MHRSI
$IHQF\ PXVW 3XVH WKH EHVW VFLHQW U4 leF5BEEE2FRPPHUFLD O (

The consultation concludes in tissuance of a biological opinion that determines
whether the action is likely to jeopardize the continued existence of the listed species. Jeopardy
LV OLNHO\ ZKHUH DQ DFWLRQ >@ UHDVRQDEO\ ZRXOG EH HJS
appreciabyWKH OLNHOLKRRG RI ERWK WKH VXUYLYDO DQG UHFRY
50 C.F.R. © 402.02. In its jeopardy analysis, the agency must coingidter/ia the indirect and
direct effects of the proposed action and the cumulative effectmsonably certain future
public and private activitiesld. oa 402.14(g), 402.02. If jeopardy is found, the biological
opinion must specify reasonable and prudent alternatives that would avoid the likelihood of
jeopardy. 16 U.S.C. = 1536(b).

The Agency is required to reinitiate any consultation previously concluded if new

information reveals that an agency action may affect an endangered species or critical habitat in
a manner or to an extent not previously considered or considered adequatelr. Ra0x

6SHFLILFDOO\ 3>U@HLQLWLDWLRQ RI IRUPDO FRQVXOW
WKH $JHQF\ D 3:>L@! WKH DPRXQW RU H[WHQW RI WDNLQJ VS
HIFHHGHG ~ E 3LI QHZ L QIR tfthdattoRtQathayYaHdotQsvedspeEids\ar
FULWLFDO KDELWDW LQ D PDQQHU RU WR DQ HIWHQW QRW SL
action is subsequently modified in a manner that causes an effect to the listed species or critical
habitat WKDW ZDV QRW FRQVLGHUHGIAQ WKH ELRORJLFDO RSLQL

7KH (QGDQJHUHG 6SHFLHV $FW DOVR PDNHV LW XQODZIX(
>SHQGDQJHUHG®@ VSHFLHV® ZLWKLQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWHV RU
without authorization. 18.S.C. @ 1538(a)(1)(B) & (C). The take prohibition extends not only
to persons directly causing a taking but also to governmental third parties whose actions allow or
authorize acts that cause a taking, such as through commercial fishing permittiagngtdge
Strahan v. Coxe, 127 F.3d 155, 163 (1st Cir. 199&3rt. denied, 525 U.S. 978 (1998)See id.

J 3 WLV XQODZIXO IRU DQ\ SHUVRQ WR DWWHPSW W]
cause to be committed, any offense defined in fieW @ -~ 7TKH VWDWXWH GHILQHV
PHDQ 3KDUDVV KDUP SXUVXH KXQW VKRRW ZRXQG NLOO
HQJDJH LQ DQ\ VM EHSFRQ GBYyFayulation, the Secretary of the Interior has
further definrHG WKH WHUP 3KDUP” WR PHDQ 3DQ DFW ZKLFK DFWXD
may include significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills or injures
wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, inclgdireeding, feeding or
VKHOWHULQJ - & )5 °F
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If a biological opinion concludes that a federal agency action may result in the take of an
endangered species, the Agency must issue an ITS that specifies a permissible take level and
LQFOXGHDBMHDUBWRG SUXGHQW PHDVXUHYV QHFHVVDU\
U.S.C. @ 1536(b). The ITS must also include any additional measures necessary to comply with
the Marine Mammal Protection Act. 50 C.F.R. & 402.14(i).

D. Marine Mammal Protection Act

The Marine Mammal Protection Act prohibits any unauthorized take of a marine
PDPPDO 8 6 & *TT71 D D S7TKH WHUP pWDNHY PHDQV
NLOO RU DWWHPSW WR KDUDVV KXQ W oFIBE3(MBX S¢diiscRU NLOO D
id T GHILQLQJ 3 KDUDVVPHQW” ™ DV 3DQ\ DFW RI SXUVXLW
WKH SRWHQWLDO WR LQMXUH” RU 3\WR GLVWXUE E\ FDXVL
but not limited to, migration, breathih QXUVLQJ EUHHGLQJ IHHGLQJ RU VKH

IRWZLWKVWDQGLQJ WKH $FWTJV WDNH SURKLELWLRQ WK
for limited incidental take of endangered marine mammals in commercial fishing operations with
the express authorizatiof NOAA Fisheries. 16 U.S.C. or 1371(a)(5)(E), 1387(a)(2). NOAA
Fisheries may authorize the incidental take of endangered marine mammals by commercial
fishing operations for a threeear period, provided it finds, after a public notasedcomment
process WKDW WKH WDNLQJ ZLOO KDYH D SQHJOLJLEOH LPSDF
plan has been or is being developed under the Endangered Species Act; and 3) if required, a
monitoring plan and take reduction plan are in effédta 1371(a)(HE)(i).

If, during the operation of the commercial fishery, NOAA Fisheries determines that the
LQFLGHQWDO WDNH DXWKRUL]J]HG KDV UHVXOWHG LQ RU LV O
WKH OLVWHG VSHFLHV RU VW Reérjendywatthosy td Qrétect M dpezids XV H L
RU VWRFN 3DQG PD\ PRGLI\ DQ\ SHUPLW JUBQWE)E)ii). DV QH

In addition, the Marine Mammal Protection Act requires NOAA Fisheries to develop a
7DNH 5 HGXFWLRQ BOWGRIJRK WDRRKNVR/I PDULQH PDPPDOV WR C
FRPPHUFLDO ILVKHULHVY WR EHORZ WKH SRWHQWLDO ELRORJ|
1387(f)(2). The PBR level is the maximum number of-natural animal mortalities that still
allow the stock to reach or maintain its optimum sustainable populakibr. 1362(20). NOAA
Fisheries must amend the Take Reduction Plan as necessary to comply with the #Act.

I ) YXUWKHUPRUH WKH $JHQF\ PXVW cogdistéM withLEH HP I

a Take Reduction Plan when necessary to protect a species or stock from commercial fishing
operations./d. @ 1387(g)(1)(A).

E. History of Efforts to Protect the Critically Endangered Right Whale

7KH ULJKW ZKDOH KDV EHBQ XOQG&MUWHG' BN (EQGBOOHUBMHG 6S|
its inception. See 16 U.S.C. & 1533; 50 C.F.R. @ 224.101;R8H. ReG. 18,319 (Dec. 2, 1970)
(original listing); 73FED. REG. 12,024 (Mar. 6, 2008) (revised listing). The right whale
frequents and inhabits state and federal waters, including waters off the coast of New England
and other U.S. watersSee Five-Year Reviewsupra, at 13; Hayes et akypra, at 8. See also
Timothy V.N. Cole et al.Evidence of a North Atlantic right whale Eubalaena glacialigating
ground, 21(1)ENDANGERED SPECIESRESEARCH55 (2013). Right whales frequent areas in which

(1
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the American lobster fishery operates in large numbers during specifimseasd they are

present in the Gulf of Maine yeaound. See Hayes et al.supra, at 89. Right whales are loRg

lived and highly mobile; they travel frequently within and between habitat asea#d. at 8.

NOAA Fisheries has designated certainhafse areas, in both state and federal waters, as
SFULWLFDO KDELW D81 FROURRGLABBB0ah. KD, @016) (designating critical

habitat for right whales in the Gulf of Maine, in Georges Bank, and off the Southeast U.S. coast);

50 C.F.R. 7T 3 ULWLFDO KDELWDW’ ™ LV D VSHFLILF DUHD RFF
containing physical or biological features essential to the conservation of the species, and which

PD\ UHTXLUH 3VSHFLDO PDQDJHPHQW FRQMBRBUAURWLRQV RU S

Right whale habitats are substantially degraded as a result of a variety of commercial
fishing activity and practices authorized and managed by NOAA Fisheries. Moreover, right
whales are injured or killed by entanglement in fishing gear, and they assédrahen
entangled and forced to tow fishing gear, even if they eventually breakStee. g., Michael J.
Moore & Julie M. van der Hoof ke painful side of trap and fixed net fisheries: Chronic
entanglement of large whales, 2012J.MARINE BioLOGY 1 (2012). NOAA Fisheries has long
admitted that entanglement in fishing gear adversely affects and causes takings of right whales.
See, e.g., ALWTRP, supra; Lobster BiOpsupra, at 1358.36. In particular, the Agency has
identified pot/trap gear as a gegpée that causes injuries and mortalities of right whales, and has
documented instances of right whale mortalities and serious injuries caused by pot/trap gear
from, or consistent with, the American lobster fishery. Lobster Bi@Qpy, at 7576, 98.

Puisuant to the Marine Mammal Protection Act, 16 U.S.C. o 1387(f), NOAA Fisheries
undertook development of a Take Reduction Plan for endangered great whales in the Atlantic.
See ALWTRP, supra. The ALWTRP specified requirements for certain commercial fishesgy
that apply to all U.S. waters in the Atlantic, except for those waters expressly exeSyetsa.

C.F.R. om 229.32, 217.12. Over more than a decade of implementation, however, the ALWTRP
failed to reduce the rate of fishinglated entanglementsé&mortalities. See Richard M. Pace

Il et al., Incremental fishing gear modifications fail to significantly reduce large whale serious

injury rate, 26 ENDANGERED SPECIESRESEARCH115 (2014); Julie M. van der Hoop et al.,
Assessment of management to mitigate anthropogenic effects on large whales, 27
CONSERVATIONBIOLOGY 121 (2013). Consequently, the Agency adopted a 2007 rule mandating
WKH XVH RI VLQNLQJ JURXQGOLQH E\ IL[HG JHD Seel2VKHULHYV
FeD. REG. 57,104 (Oct. 52007). Right whale entanglements continued to occur in the period
following implementation of the sinking line ruléee, e.g., Hayes et alsupra, at 13. In 2014,

NOAA Fisheries amended the ALWTRP to specify requirements for trap and pot gear dlesigne
to reduce the number of vertical lines in the water column and expanthgdang
UHTXLUHPHQWYV WK H S&X79 EEW REGBOSED I(JQrid 27 XO1H).

NOAA Fisheries has also taken action to reduce the threat of ship strikes to ritgg.wha
,Q WKH $JHQF\ LPSOHPHQWHG D SURYLVLRG@dorigy KLS VSH
or longer to reduce speed to 10 knots or less inside seasonal managemesta&aBseD.
REeG. 60,173 (Oct. 10, 2008); 50 C.F.R. = 224.105. Concuyehi Agency developed a
voluntary dynamic management area program to encourage ship speed reductions when three or
more right whales are sighted in a specific ate&. 73 FED. REG. at 60,180. In 2013, the
Agency indefinitely extended the ship spedeé.ri$ee 78 FED. REG. 73,726 (Dec. 9, 2013).

1) 1
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F. The Continuing Threat of Entanglement to the Survival of the Right Whale

Entanglement of right whales has continued despite historical efforts to mitigate the
impact of commercial fisheries. As NOAA Fisheraaknowledged in its recent fisgear
UHYLHZ RI WKH ULJKW ZKDOHYV VWDWXV UHJXODWLRQ RI FR
$/:753 KDV EHHQ RQJRLQJ VLQFH \HW 3>W@KURXJKRXW W
entanglements rates have remained high . }YeéaHReviewsupra, at 18. NOAA
Fisheries reports a significant number of entanglements of right whales in U.S. waters that have
UHVXOWHG LQ GHDWK RU VHULRXYV LQMXULHYV $FFRUGLQJ W|
stock assessment repdor the period 2016014, twentyfour recorded right whale mortalities
or serious injuries involved entanglements or fishery interactions, representing 80 percent of all
reported humamcaused mortalities or serious injuries for that period. Hayes, eiyala, at 13.
See also Scott D. Kraus et alRecent Scientific Publications Cast Doubt on North Atlantic Right
Whale Future, opinion, 3FRONTIERS INMARINE ScI. 137 (2016) (reporting that entanglement
related deaths accounted for 85 percent of diagnosed right whale deatd3M@®)0 The stock
assessment report concludes there was a minimum average rate ofdawsech right whale
mortality of 5.66 whales per gein 20102014, including commercial fisheries mortality of 4.65
whales per yearSee id. at 128.3. See also Five-Year Reviewsupra, at 17. During this same
period, the right whale PBR level was no more than 1 whale per §eaHayes et al.supra, at
12. See also van der Hoop et al. (2013ypra (finding that over two decades, humeaused
mortality of right whales exceeded the PBR level in all years but one). Of the right whale deaths
documented to date in 2017, chronic entanglement or probataieglement was the cause of
death for at least two whaleBIEATHER M. PETTIS ET AL NORTHATLANTIC RIGHT WHALE
CONSORTIUM2017ANNUAL REPORTCARD (2017)% In addition, there have been ten live
entanglement sightings reported over the past year, thatiioh occurred in the United States.
Id. at tbl.5.

(YHQ PRUH WURXEOLQJ LV WKDW ULJKW ZKDOH 3>V@FDUL
occurring at about an order of magnitude greater than that detected from observations of whales
with gear on them” + D \ H VsudM aD1@. Cf. Lobster BiOpsupra, at 37 (acknowledging
that not all right whale deaths and injuries are observed). It is estimated that 82.9 percent of right
whales have scars due to entanglements, and 59 percent are entangkbdumonee, with at
least one whale showing evidence of seven entanglements. Amy R. KnowltoMeu&hring
North Atlantic right whale Eubalaena glacialietanglement rates: A 30 yr retrospective, 466
MARINE EcoLoGY 293 (2012). Additionally, scarnndata indicate that juveniles and calves are
entangled at higher rates than adults.

Recent research shows that chronic entanglement in fishing gear is a source of extreme
stress, pain, and suffering for right whales, and can interfere with behswatrss foraging and
locomotion® The substantial energy requirements associated with chronic entanglement are

4 Available at http://www.narwc.org/pdf/2017%20Report%20CardFinal.pdf.

5 See, e.g., JUie M. van der Hoop et alEntanglement is a costly life-history stage in large whales, 7(1) ECOLOGY &
EvOLUTION 92 (2017); Julie M. van der Hoop et &wimming kinematics and efficiency of entangled North
Atlantic right whales, 32 ENDANGERED SPECIESRESEARCH1 (2017); Heather M. Pettis et &qdy condition
changes arising from natural factors and fishing gear entanglements in North Atlantic right whales Eubalaena
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equivalent to the energetic demands of major life events such as migration or female
reproduction. Julie van der Hoop et &wanglement is a costly life-history stage in large
whales, 7(1) ECOLOGY & EvoLUTION 92 (2017).

The sublethal impacts of chronic entanglement are linked to population dedine.
Kraus et al.supra 36 XEOHWKDO HQWDQJOHPHQWY FDQ RdhedMhH UHSUR
ORQJ DIWHU WKH HQWDQJOHPH Q MWpdur¥ht Ridikilof NorthRiRiNiHH SREELQ"
right whales after entanglement in fishing gear, 191BIOLOGICAL CONSERVATION421 (2015)

ILQGLQJ 3SWKDW ERWK MXY HQ L OHowebpoBaliility BfGuiivallatte} W ZK D O
UHSRUWHG HQWDQJOHPHQW’ (QWDQJOHPHQW LV FRQWULEX
morbidity but also decreasing reproductidize AMY R. KNOWLTON ET AL., STATUS OF
REPRODUCTIVE FEMALESN THE NORTHATLANTIC RIGHT WHALE POPUIATION AND IMPACTS OF
HUMAN ACTIVITIES ON THEIR REPRODUCTIVE §ICCESS(NOAA Rpt. 2012); Knowlton et al.,

Monitoring North Atlantic right whale Eubalaena glacialisitanglement rates: A 30 yr

retrospective, supra. In recent years, right whale calving rates have been below average and
right whale body condition has declinetke Five-Year Reviewsupra, at 21. Calving rates

have decreased since 20&¢ PETTIS ET AL, supra. In the period 2012016, only 18 peent

of females available to calve gave birth; and in 2017, only 7 percent of available females calved.
Id. See also Hayes et al.supra; Pace et al. (20173ypra. Troublingly, annual productivity in

DQG KDV SOLNHO\ EHH}H ®OIVVHWRWHKHQ ¥ QH IGIHEI IRKDO HV
al. (2017)supra. Compounding the declining calving rates is the fact that the right whale
population has an uneven sex ratio (an estimated 272 males to 186 females id201bgse
factors, which are liked to the sublethal impacts of chronic entanglement, impede the right
ZKDOH SRSXODWLRQYfVY DELOLW\ WR LQFUHDVH DQGedMHRSDUG
Julie van der Hoop et aEntanglement is a costly life-history stage in large whales, 7(1)

EcoLOGY & EvoLUTION 92 (2017); Pace et al. (201%)pra (finding that the oncgrowing right
whale population experienced a decline of approximately 1 percent per year during the period
20102015, with females declining approximately 7 percent).

Of further concern is that the risks of entanglement have increased over time and within
the lifetimes of right whales. Fishing line strength and gear heaviness have increased since the
1990s, likely leading to more severe entanglements and injlizeAmy R. Knowlton et al.,
Effects of fishing rope strength on the severity of large whale entanglements, 30(2)
CONSERVATIONBIOLOGY 318 (2015).See also Logan H. Arthur et al Estimating maximal force
output of cetaceans using axial locomotor muscle morphology, 31(4)MARINE MAMMAL SCI.
1401 (2015) (concluding that large whales are unlikely to break free from entanglements in
WRGD\YfV HIWUHPHO\ VWURQJ ILVKLQJ OLQHV OHDQZKLOH V
licensed to fish in the Gulf of Maine has@increased significantly from approximately 2.3

glacialis, 32ENDANGERED SPECIESRESEARCH237 (2017); Rosalind M. Rolland et allealth of North Atlantic right
whales (Eubalaena glacialigver three decades: From individual health to demographic and population health
trends, 542MARINE ECOLOGY PROGRESSSRS. 265 (2016); Julie M. van der Hoop et d@)ag fiom fishing gear
entangling North Atlantic right whales, 32(2)MARINE MAMMAL SCI. 619 (2016); Moore & van der Hoopypra;
Knowlton et al. Monitoring North Atlantic right whale Eubalaena glacialisitanglement rates: A 30 yr
retrospective, supra.
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million traps in 1993 to more than 3.2 million traps in 20A3LANTIC STATES COMM ¥,
AMERICAN LOBSTERBENCHMARK STOCK ASSESSMENT ANDPEER REVIEW REPORT33 (2015)°

There is evidence of entanglementape from all parts of the fixed gear fishing
industry, including inshore and offshore gear, vertical lines and groundlines, and floating and
sinking lines. See Amanda Johnson et akishing gear involved in entanglements of right and
humpback whales, 21 MARINE MAMMAL Sci. 635 (2005). In other words, as NOAA Fisheries
has recognized, all fixed gear fishing lines pose a threat to right whales anywhere in the water
column. See Lobster BiOp, supra, at 13Gee also Mark F. Baumgartner et alNorth Atlantic
right whale foraging ecology and its role in human-caused mortality, 581 MARINE ECOLOGY
PROGRESSSRS. ILQGLQJ WKDW 3ULJKW ZKDOHV XVH WKH
VXUIDFH WR VHD IORRU" , Q@ D G G Lhale RefyibukoK phttdrslave HY LGHQF
shifting, which may render the population more vulnerable to entangleswentayes et al.,
supra, at 21; Pace et al. (201%}pra.

Notably, NOAA Fisheries recently published a fiyear review of the status of the right
whale that acknowledges the adverse impacts of chronic entanglement as well as the decline of
the right whale speciesSee Five-Year Reviewsupra, at 1820. The review concluded with a
series of recommendations for right whale recovery, includingaameendation that NOAA
JLVKHULHYV 3VKRXOG HYDOXDWH WKH FXUUHQW VWDWXV RI Wt
in biological opinions for commercial fisheries consultations under Section 7 of the Endangered
Species Act to determine if-ipitiati RQ LV ZD W& D.QMVEFH G ~

G. Endangered Right Whales Face Other Significant Anthropogenic Threats

In addition to entanglement in commercial fishing gear, right whales face other
significant humarcaused threats to their survival, including, but nottéohto, potential
offshore oil and gas development, ocean noise, and ship stéiKdsive-Year Review supra, at
S5LJKW ZKDOHV GXH WR WKHLU QHDU FRQVWDQW LQWHUD
Coast of North America, face a number of S ®@ H[ IDFWRUV OLPLWLQJ WKHLU UH

Offshore oil and gas activities off the U.S. Atlantic Coast threaten right whales and their
habitat. FiveYear Reviewsupra, at 15. The Bureau of Ocean Energy Management is
preparing a new fivgear Outer Contiental Shelf Oil and Gas Leasing Program for 28024
in accordance with a recent Executive Order calling for annual lease sales in tAdavitc
DQG 6RXWK $WODQWLF 3*WR WKH P DpeI2KeD. RELGN\BOLEBEY 3GE8U P L W W H
(July 3, 207); Exec. Order. No. 13,795 (Apr. 28, 2017). As NOAA Fisheries has recognized,
3 >L@! GULOOLQJ DFWLYLWLHY DUH DOORZHG WR RFFXU LQ Wt
to the right whale population by vessel movements, noise, spills, oHe@IW V -YegrL Y H
Review,supra, at 15.

Anthropogenic ocean noise, such as noise from ships, is another chronic stressor that
QHIJDWLYHO\ LPSDFWV ULJKW ZKDOHV DQG P DSee\WiVeYeDWHQ Wk

8 Available at
http://www.asmfc.org/uplads/file/55d61d73AmLobsterStockAssmt_PeerReviewReport_ Aug2015_red?2.pdf.
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Review,supra, at 15; Rosalind/. Rolland et al. Evidence that ship noise increases stress in
right whales, 279(1737)PROC. ROYAL SOC ¥ B: BIOLOGICAL ScI. 2363 (2012).

$GGLWLRQDOO\ 33>U@LJKW ZKDOHV FRQWLQXH WR IDFH W
WKURXJKRXW W K¥YearlRevi®v@uaid, at 17 Iictibly David N. Wiley et allessel
strike mitigation lessons from direct observations involving two collisions between
noncommercial vessels and North Atlantic right whales (Eubalaena glacialign the western
north Atlantic, 324) MARINE MAMMAL Sci. 1501 (2016)). Research has demonstrated poor
compliance with voluntary speed restrictions in dynamic management areas, and concluded it
unlikely that voluntary measures meaningfully reduced the risk of ship strikes in theseSaeeas.
GREGORYK. SILBER & SHANNON BETTRIDGE, AN ASSESSMENT OF THEFINAL RULE TO
IMPLEMENT VESSELSPEEDRESTRICTIONS TOREDUCE THETHREAT OFVESSELCOLLISIONS WITH
NORTHATLANTIC RIGHT WHALES, NMFS- OPR48 (NOAA Tech. Memo. 2012). Other research
finds that skp strikes have decreased within seasonal management areas as a result of the ship
speed rule, buticreased outside of seasonal management aréag.Julie M. van der Hoop et
al., Vessel strikes to large whales before and after the 2008 ship strike rule, 8 CONSERVATION
LETTERS24 (2015). See also Five-Year Reviewsupra, at 18; David W. Laist et al.,
Effectiveness of mandatory vessel speed limits for protecting North Atlantic right whales, 23
ENDANGERED SPECIESRESEARCH133 (2014). As noted in NOAAFishULHVY PRVW UHFHQW
assessment report, for the period 23D 14, vessel strikes accounted for 20 percent of right
whale mortalities and serious injuries. Hayes ek@bza, at 14. In sum, the ship speed rule
appears to have reduced risks in s@meas, but vessel strikes remain a significant threat to the
right whale.

LEGAL VIOLAT IONS

At issue is the current regulatory scheme by which NOAA Fisheries authorizes, permits,
and manages commercial fishing activilespecifically, operation of the Aemican lobster
fishery, the most active fixed gear fishery in the Greater Atlantic Rédioat result in harm,
harassment, injury, and death to critically endangered right whales, degrade their habitats, and
threaten the continued existence of the species.

A. Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act

NOAA Fisheries is failing to insure that its management and authorization of the
American lobster fishery is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of right whales in
violation of Section 7 of the Endangel Species ActSee 16 U.S.C. @ 1536(a)(2). At the root of
12%$% )LVKHULHVY YLRODWLRQ LV LWV UHOLDQFH RQ WKH OHJ
below, the Lobster BiOp is fundamentally flawed and NOAA Fisheries failed to reinitiate
consultaton in light of new information in violation of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C.S.
an 1536(a)(2), (4) and 1538(a)(1)(G), and implementing regulations, 50 C.F.R. & 402.16.

1. The Lobster BiOp is Fundamentally Flawed

The Lobster BiOp is legally inadequati violation of statutory requirements, the
Lobster BiOp fails to rely on the best available scientific information, is improperly limited in
scope, includes a flawed jeopardy analysis, and fails to include an ITS. Any of these flaws on its
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own would reder the Lobster BiOp unlawful; together, thigmonstratW KH $JHQF\TV XWWH L
DEGLFDWLRQ RI LWV GXW\ WR FRQVXOW $FFRUGLQJO\ 12%$3%
inadequate Lobster BiOp in their ongoing management and authorization of the American

Lobster Fishery violates Section 7 of the Endangered SpeciesSé«ci6 U.S.C. ©1536.

7KH /R EVW Hirdt fagdl 2a8@vfsvthat it fails to rely on the best scientific data
DYDLODEOH 7KH $JHQF\fV 6HFWLRQ FRQVXOWDWLRQ PXVW
GDWD DYDLODEOH” LQ GHWHUPLQLQJ ZKHWKHU RSHUDWLRQ F
jeopardize the continued existence of right whaleg.16 U.S.C. & 1536(a)(2). Yet, the Lobster
BiOp fails to properly analyze the severe sublethal impacts of chronic entanglement. As
summarized above, the best available scientific information deratessthat entanglement not
only causes serious direct injuries and mortalities to right whales but also contributes to
decreased reproductive success and morbidity, interferes with behaviors such as foraging and
locomotion, and is linked to the overaédine of the populationSee, e.g., supra note 5; Pace et
al. (2017)supra; Kraus et al.supra. Additionally, the Lobster BiOp fails to properly analyze
the effects of other stressors to right whales, such as noise pollution, in its analysis of the
ervironmental baseline and cumulative effecige Lobster BiOpsupra, e 4, 7. Cf. Rolland et
al. (2012)supra. Furthermore, in concluding that entanglement in American lobster gear is
unlikely to jeopardize theurvival and recovery of right whalghe Lobster BiOp relies on an
assumption that the right whale population is increashiag.Lobster BiOp supra, at 14649.
Yet, the best available science indicates that the right whale population has been in decline since
2010. See Pace et al. (20173upra.

Second, the Lobster BiOp is improperly limited in scope. The Lobster BiOp arbitrarily
and unlawfully defines the agency action subject to consultation as the management of the
American lobster fishery over a tgear period.See Lobster BiOp,supra, at 8. According to
the Agency, itisnoSRVVLEOH WR UHOLDEO\ DQDO\]H 3VSHFXODWLYH"
UHDVRQDE O H. FHHNVPIHNF\ D U J X H \erW &ffedié of th@ f@her® drH U
[Jlisted species, whatever they may bes amuch more difficult to pinpoint and extrapolate
EH\RQG W HIQ RutBetnoré, the Agency claims that it lacks information suggesting that
DQDO\WLYVY RI D ORQJHU SHULRG ZRXOG DOWHU WKH $JHQF\TV
appreciably reducinthe likelihood of the survival of right whalegd.

The narrowtenN\HDU VFRSH RI WKH $JHQF\fVY DQDO\VLV LV SODL
GXW\ XQGHU 6HFWhaRtie Am&rRans loRsteXfidhery is not likely to jeopardize the
continued exstence of right whalesSee 8 6 & ¥ D 7KH $JHQF\YV VHOH
tenyear timeframe for its analysis is arbitrary and wholly disconnected from both right whale
biology and industry trends.

Given the declining condition of the right whaepulation and current reproduction trengs (

Pace et al. (20173upra), the level of take assumed to occur over ayesar period in the

Lobster BiOp? 32.5 whale$ could decimate the species in a matter of decasiesLobster

BiOp, supra, at 13586. Moreover, right whales are lodiyed and will be affected by fishing

gear beyond the teyear timeframe analyzed. If the Agency considers the impacts of the fishery
in successive tegear increments, the Agency will fail to properly analyze the impacts

chronic entanglement on the species and the connection of entanglemeniteyrtosgecies

decline.
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Similarly, the Agency has no rational basis for assuming that the American lobster
fishery, which has existed for generations, and increased in eff@rtrecent decades, will shut
down or otherwise substantially change operations on a decadal scale. Indeed, the best available
information about the industry suggests the opposite. For instance, the Atlantic States
Commission reports that traps haveféhe dominant gear used to fish lobster for nearly 200
years, that regulations have, in many cases, grown less restrictive over time, and that harvest and
PDQDJHPHQW PHWKRGYVY KDYH UHPDLQHG ODUJHO\ VWDEOH RY
the lae 19th to early 20th century would be familiar with . . . [the] process for managing lobster
W R G Brg, e.g., ATLANTIC STATES COMM ¥, supra, at 2881. It is unreasonable for the
$IJHQF\ WR FODLP WKDW DQDO\VLV RI WHKyaardp@adbe LQJ ILVKHU
PHUHO\ 3V S HSeed GoBteY BiDphupra, at 8.

7KH /REVWHU %L2SYV LPSURSHU VFRSH DQG WKH $JHQF\Y
VFLHQFH FRQWULEXWH WR WKH $JHQF\YV IXQGDPHQWDOO\ 10
LobstHU %L2S FRQFOXGHV WKDW WKH FRQWLQXH@&GaRSHUDWLRQ
adversely affect, but is not likely to jeopardize, the continued existence of North Atlantic right
whales.... /REVW Hslpr8pat2@&. This finding is conclusoand lacks rational basis.
The Endangered Species Act dictates that a jeopardy finding is appropriate if operation of the
$PHULFDQ OREVWHU ILVKHU\ 3B UHDVRQDEO\ ZRXOG EH H[SHFW
appreciably the likelihood of boththe skt DO DQG UHFRYHU\ Rd50KR. W LIKW Z]|

7KH $JHQF\YY DQDO\WLYV GRHVY QRW VXSSRUW LWV FRQF

injuries of right whales per year over ten years, in addition to other acknowledged cumulative
stressas, is not likely to jeopardize a species experiencing steady decline and for which the PBR
level is 0.9 whalesSee Lobster BiOpsupra, at 35. Indeed, proper consideration of the best
available science on the impacts of entanglement, cited above gadi$bla conclusion that
unmitigated operation of the American lobster fishery is jeopardizing and will continue to
jeopardize the survival of the right whale species.

Finally, the Lobster BiOp fails to include a proper ITS as required by federal lagv. T
Endangered Species Act requires an ITS if a biological opinion concludes that the agency action
under review may result in the take of an endangered speeietb U.S.C. o 1536(b)(4); 50
C.F.R. ©402.14(g). The Agency knows, or should know, thaersitting and management of
$PHULFDQ OREVWHU ILVKLQJ JHDU WDNHV HQGDQJHUHG ULJK
take prohibition applies to not only actions that directly cause a taking but also acts by third
parties that authorize actions causangking. Strahan v. Coxe, 127 F.3d 155, 163 (1st Cir.
1997),cert. denied, 525 U.S. 978 (1998). Here, the Agency is well aware that activities they
authorize and oversee, and which could not occur but for their management and oversight, cause
takingsof right whales.See, e.g., 82 FED. REG. 3655 (Jan. 2, 2017) (listing the American lobster
ILVKHU\ DV D ILVKHU\ WKDW PXVW FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH $/:753 L
fishery due to frequent incidental mortality and serious injurpaoine mammals, including
right whales).See also Hayes et alsupra D W UHFRJQL]LQJ WKDW RQH RI 3>\
EHOLHYHG WR EH UHWDUGLQJ JURZWK DQG UHFRYHU\ RI WKH
ZLWK ILVKLQJ JH D BiOp its@lkaeknor/ledges ldtUkast one documented case of
entanglement in lobster fishing gear between 2007 and 2011. LobstersBi2p,at 135. The
IREVWHU %L2S |IXUWKH U niargie@énizs Of Hightwhsle KD tirap geh@
continue to ocur despite the measuressP SOHPHQWHG E\ WKH $/:753" DQG ILQG
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lobster fishery has the potential to seriously injure or kill an average of 3.25 right whales per

\H D Wi. at 135+ <HW LQ VSLWH RI WKH $JHQF\TV R®Zte ILQGLQJIV
American lobster fishery, the Agency failed to include an ITS in the Lobster Bie2fd.obster

BiOp, supra, at 16061.

For the foregoing reasons, the Lobster BiOp is legally inadequate. Consequently, the
$IHQF\TV FRQWLQXHG dlbdkste DBIIp HaRw@latédahdIcordiziiEs to violate
the Endangered Species Act. The Agency has failed to fulfill its statutory mandate to insure that
authorization, permitting, management, and operation of the American lobster fishery does not
jeopardizethe survival of right whalesSee 16 U.S.C. & 1536.

2. The Agencyis Violating Its Duty to Reinitiate Consultation

The Agencyis violating its legal duty to reinitiate consultation regarding the impacts of
the American lobster fishery in the wake of rdagght whale deaths, as well as new information
about the right whale population and the impacts of commercial fisSiregh0 C.F.R. & 402.16.

By law, the Agency is required to reinitiate consultation regarding the impacts of the
American lobster fistHU\ LI QHZ LQIRUPDWLRQ UHYHDOV HIIHFWV RI W
ZKDOHV@ RU FULWLFDO KDELWDW LQ D PDQQHU RU WR DQ HJ[

7KDW WKUHVKROG KDV EHHQ UHDFKHG ultdtiar$i$ )LVKHULH

triggered by new science and information, cited above, regarding the sublethal impacts of
chronic entanglement on right whales, the current declining trajectory of the population, other
VWUHVVRUV DQG WKUHDWYV W ihguUistiibuhdnZtKe?O1MA Mhududl JKW ZKDOH
mortality event, the impact of recent rules (i.e., the ship speed rule, sinking line rule, and vertical
line rule), and the increasing risks of entanglement. These new data and information indicate
that the American lob¢/ HU ILVKHU\ PD\ EH DIIHFWLQJ ULJKW ZKDOHV D¢
PDQQHU RU WR DQ H[WHQW QRW SUHS¥d5REF.Q\cBRQS/LGHUHG  E

,Q SDUWLFXODU UHFHQW VFLHQFH XQGHUPLQHV WKH $JF
population is increasingsée Lobster BiOp supra, at 146+ DV ZHOO DV WKH $JHQF\TV
DVVXPSWLRQV UHJDUGLQJ WKH VSHFLHVY HQYLURQPHQWDO E
of entanglementsée id. at 140449). Additionally, there is an urgent need the Agency to
reinitiate consultation in the wake of the unprecedented number of right whale deaths in 2017
and the significant impact of those deaths on the survival of the species in light of its declining
population. Cf. Five-Year Reviewsupra, at UHFRPPHQGLQJ WKDW 12%$% )LVKHI
WKH FXUUHQW VWDWXV RI WKH VSHFLHV 7 WR GHWHUPLQH

"7TKH $JHQF\YV GXW\ WR UHLQLWLDWH FRQVXOWDWLRQ LV DOVR WULJJHUF
in the Lobster BiOp, NOAA Fisheries must reinitiate consultatiq1) the annual average rate of serious injuries

and mortalities exceeds 3.25 whales in the period 2012 R U 3SDW DQ\ WL PEar@etibdtizg WKH ILYH
number of [serious injuries and mortalities] make it statistically impossible for thage/tr be [less than 3.25

whales] at the end of the fiwgar period. /R EV W Hslpr8pdt A&19. For the purposes of monitoring serious

injuries and mortalities of right whales, the Agency stated that it will rely spoous injurydetermination reports,

marine mammal stock assessment reports, and the Atlantic Large Whale Take Reduction Team monitoring reports.
Serious injuries and mortalities reported in the most recent marine mammal stock assessment reports and presented

to the Atantic Large Whale Take Reduction Team now render it statistically impossible for the average number of
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B. Section 9 of the Endangered Species Act

12$% )LVKHULHVY UHIJXODWRU\ VFKHPH FXUUHQWO\ DXWK
fishing activities and gear that injure, harm, harass, and degrade the habitats of endangered right
whales, in violation of the take prohibition of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U188
See also 50 C.F.R. © 17.3.

American lobster gear causes entamgiats that kill or seriously injure endangered right
whales. As noted above, the Lobster BiOp finds fi&tKH OREVWHU ILVKHU\ KDV WK
VHULRXVO\ LQMXUH RU NLOO DQ DY Hdbfelr BiGpupra, atlBEXKW ZKDO |
36. SuchUPV FRQVWLWXWH D 3SWDNH" XQ Gebll6 WSKHe(QGDQJHUHG
1532(19). Additionally, as described above, chronic entanglement constitutes a take of
endangered right whales because it significantly impairs right whale primary behaviors and
causes injury and harnsee id.; 50 C.F.R. © 17.3. Inspite (W KH $JHQF\YfV RZQ ILQGLQJ
regarding the impact of the American lobster fishery, the Lobster BiOp fails to include an ITS
authorizing the incidental take of right whales by the American lobster fisfe#y16 U.S.C. o
1536(b)(4); 50 C.F.R. @ 402.14(g) hdrefore, such takings violate the Act.

Accordingly, NOAA Fisheries, through its authorization, permitting, and management of
the American lobster fishery saway that allows for unauthorized takes of right whales, has
violated and is continuing to viate Section 9 of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.&38&

C. Marine Mammal Protection Act

12%% )LVKHULHVY DXWKRUL]J]DWLRQ DQG RYHUVLJKW RI WK
fishery also causes a take of right whales in violation of the Marine MamwotakcRon Act. 16
U.S.C. o 1371(a), 1372(a), 1387. The Agency has failed to authorize incidental take of right
ZKDOHV E\ SURSHUO\ LVVXLQJ DQ ,76 WKDW FRPSOLHV ZLWK '
requirements, and the Agency has failed to take offpoariate action as necessary to protect
the right whale from the continued operation of the American lobster fisSeg#yd. aa 1371(a),
1387.

As described above, the operation of the American lobster fishery causes entanglement of
right whales, whictharasses, injures, and kills right whales and disturbs their behavioral
SDWWHUQV WKHUHE\ FDXVLQJ S\ WDNHV’™ XQeHW.S\ae¢H ODULQH
1362(13) & (18). The Act allows NOAA Fisheries to permit limited incidental take of
endangexd marine mammals in commercial fishing operations, but only if the Agency finds,
interalia WKDW WKH WDNLQJ ZLOO KDYH QR PRUH WKDQ D 3QHJO
1371(a)(5)(E)(i). Here, NOAA has made no such finding. Indeed, a findimgglifjible impact
LV LPSRVVLEOH E\ WKH $JHQF\YV RZQ DQDO\VLV UHJDUGLQJ V
species and the impacts of the American lobster fishery on right witalekobster BiOp,

serious injuries and mortalities to be less than 3.25 whales per year for the peria2i0d®1 2T herefore, by its own

terms, the Agency must reinitiatensultation.See Letter from Ctr. for Biological Diversity et al. to Wilbur Ross,

6HFY\ RI &RPPHUFH &KULV 20LYHU $VVW $GPLQ IRU )L¥K&WLHY 12$% )L
Hayes et al.supra; PETTIS ET AL, supra.; NOAA FISHERIES 2017 North Atlantic Right Whale Unusual Mortality

Event, supra.
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supra, at 136 (assuming that that the fishery will @825 serious injuries or mortalities per

year over the tegear period analyzed). The Agency admits as such in the Lobster BiOp, stating
thatit didQRW LQFOXGH DQ ,76 EHFDXVH VXFK D VWDWHPHQW 3FD
incidental take of []lised whales by the American lobster fishery has not been authorized under
>WKH ODULQH ODPPDO/BARBNHFWLRQ $FW@

7KH $JHQF\YV DXWKRUL]J]DWLRQ SHUPLWWLQJ DQG PDQD.
in away that allows for unauthorized takafsright whales violated and is continuing to violate
the Marine Mammal Protection Act.

RELIEF REQUESTED

Our organizations will seek declaratory relief and injunctive relief to prevent further
violations of the Endangered Species Act, the Marine Mar®mméction Act, and the
Administrative Procedure Act, and such other relief as permitted by law. We will also seek
recovery of any costs and fees associated with this matter to which we may be entitled.

CONCLUSION

As outlined herein, NOAA Fisheries iswiplation of the Endangered Species Act as
well as the Marine Mammal Protection Act and Administrative Procedure Act. Without
expeditious action, additional entanglements will bring about or accelerate the extinction of the
already decimated right whalegulation. If the Agency does not take action within sixty days
to remedy their violations, we will pursue litigation.

As noted above, during the sixtiay notice period, we are willing to discuss effective
remedies for the violations noted in thisdetthat may avoid the necessity of further litigation.
If you wish to pursue such discussions, please contact us as soon as possible.

Sincerely,

%77//3’? &Mﬂjﬂ 4 o

/[ N\ A ( A &——< (S

/ 00 = ’
Megan M. Herzog, Esq. Erica A. Fuller, Esq.
Peter Shelley, Esq. Roger M. Fleming, Esq.
CONSERVATIONLAW FOUNDATION EARTHJUSTICE
62 Summer Street 1625 Massachusetts Avenue, Suite 702
Boston, MA 02110 Washington, DC 20036
Phone: 618501727 Phone: 508009080
mherzog@clf.org efuller@earthjustice.org
pshelley@clf.org rfleming@earthjustice.org

Cc: James J. Gilmore, Jr., Chair, Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission
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November 29, 2017

Via Electronic & Certified Mail

Wilbur Ross

Secretary of Commerce

U.S. Department of Commerce

1401 Constitution Avenue, N.W., Room 5516
Washingtonp.C. 20230

TheSec@doc.gov

Chris Oliver

Assistant Administrator
NOAA Fisheries

1315 EastWWest Highway
Silver Spring, MD 20910
chris.oliver@noaa.gov

John Bullard

Northeast Regional Administrator
Greater Atlantic Regional Fisheries Office
National Marine Fisheries Service

55 Great Republic Drey

Gloucester, MA 01930
john.bullard@noaa.gov

Re: Notice ofViolations and Intent to File Suit under the Endangered Species Act
Regarding the Omnibus Essential Fish HabitatAmendment 2

SecretaryRoss Mr. Oliver, and Mr. Bullard

TheConservation Law Foundationr* & /)~ D QdBuris& Earthjustice herelgive
noticepursuant to 16 U.S.C. =@ 1540@)our intent to sue th&).S. Department of Commerce,
the Secretaryof Commercethe National Marine Fisheries Service, and the Assistant
Administrator for NOAAFisheries FRO O HF W L Y FOvlolatiany @fSection 7 of the
(QGDQJHUHG 6SHFLHV $FW 3(T®HeSe violat®ns afefrom 10)6 TV
failure to comply with substantive and procedural requirenargction? in its proposed
implementatiorof the OmnibusEssential Fistiabitat Amendmen2 32 +$ as
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recommendecE\ WKH 1HZ (QJODQG )LVKHU\COQD RHWPHQWE&RXQFLO
SeeProposed Rule82 FeD. ReG. 51,492 (Nov. 6, 2017)We intend to file suit in United States

District Court seeking appropriate declaratory relief, injunctive relief, and other relief no earlier

than sixty days from the postmark date of this notice letter.

As the action agendyat willimplement OHAZand the delegated consulting agency for
North Atlantic right whalegEubalaena glacialis 32U L J KW , RIKIESChBsshaffirmative
duty to insure that OHAZ2s not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of right whales or
result in the destruction or adverse modification of their habitandertakng anintra-agency
consultation andf necessaryissung newbiological opiniors. Seel6 U.S.C. & 153@&)(2); 50
C.F.R. = 402.16 (duty to consult lies with action agency and consulting agetiggbpardy or
adverse modification is found, NMFS must specify reasonable and prudent alternatives to avoid
the likelihood of jeopardyl6 U.S.Cra 1536(b{3).

NMFS has nosatisfied its substantive and procedural dutynsoire that th@roposed
OHA2 2 which opensnore tharfive thousandsquarenauticalmiles of previously closed ocean
to fishing 2 will notjeopardize the continued existence of right whales orradiyemodifytheir
habitat Seel6 U.S.C. 21536(a)(2¢ NMFS cannot reasonabigly on heimpacts analysis
the2+$ )LQDO (QYLURQPHQW OralS’ Posdaksdhe i ivd bidtadicaw 3
opinionsand relevant Atlantic Large Whale Take Reduction Plaé /: 7 5 3 ® do not consider
the effecs of the proposedpeningof closedareas, thenprecedentedght whalemortalitesin
2017, or new scientific information on tdecliningreproductive healthnd status of right
whalesand the impacts of commercial fishih§ee50 CF.R. o 402.16(b) (federal agencies must
UHLQLWLDWH FRQVXOWDWLRQ LI 3QHZ LQIRUPDWLRQ UHYHDO
species or critical habitat in a manner or to e not previously consideréd Consistent
with 1 0) 6 fduty to ensur¢hat the action will not jeopardize or adversely modigt whale
critical habitatconsultation®n all fisheries operating in the Action Araee required whereas
here,critically endangered right whalegscurin the action area, the proposed aciiwh 3P D\
DIITHFW™ ULJKW ZK D ofthéactvify Gn kigit whaddsvil Rdlbé insignificant,

1 SeeNew England Fishery Mgmt. Council, Final Omnibus Essential Fish Habitat Amendment 2 [OHA2 FEIS],
Vol. |, tbl.37 (2016) available athttps://www.nefmc.org/library/omnibtisabitatamendment2.

2NMFS must also fulfill its consultation obligations on all other threatened and endangered species that may be
DIlHFWHG E\ WKH DFWLRQ VXFK DV ILQ ZKDOHV VHL ZKDOHV OHDWKHUED
turtles (Nath Atlantic DPS), Loggerhead Sea turtles (Northwest Atlantic Ocean DPS), Atlantic salmon, and Atlantic
sturgeonSeeOHA2 FEIS Vol. | at 44546.

3 Pursuant to the Marine Mammal Protection Act, 16 U.S.C. o 1387(f), NOAA Fisheries undertook development of
aTake Reduction Plan for endangered great whales in the Atl&®e62 FED. REG. 39,157 (July 22, 1997). The
ALWTRP and its adjustments specify requirements for certain commercial fishing gear that apply to all U.S. waters,
except for those expressly exempt&eeb0 C.F.R. on 229.32, 217.12.

4 For instance, the OHA2 FEIS assumight whales are on a positive trajectoee) (,6 9RO 9, DW 3/DUJH
whale assessments indicate general increases in the population sizes for these spece=e{agame 1, section

DQG :DULQJ HW DO " att\WdidatesithEtithe WihDah&ld fopuE@ M hasbedh
declining since 2010 (Pace et al. 2017).
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discountable, or wholly beneficial.’ See OHA2 FEIS Vol. I at 452, 464-67. See also OHA2 FEIS
Vol. IV at 340, 346, 361, 392.

Founded in 1966, the Conservation Law Foundation is a non-profit, member-supported
environmental organization located in New England, whose ocean waters are an important part
RI WKH ULJKW ZKDOHTV G @datedQibh\Waw Gounddtiodabvedatey ukeMaw,L W D W
VFLHQFH DQG HFRQRPLFV WR VROYH WKH SUREOHPV WKUHD\
communities. For decades, the Conservation Law Foundation has worked to promote marine
conservation and stewardship DQG UHYLWDOL]DWLR QederdatybdbeafQJODQGTV R
resources.

The Conservation Law Foundation and its members have a significant interest in ensuring
the survival of the right whale, which is unique to the Atlantic coast. Right whales are deeply
connected to the history, economy, and culture of New England, and to the health of its ocean
ecosystems. The right whale is one of the most endangered whale species in the world, with an
estimated population of 458 individuals in 2015 (Pace et al. 2017). After a brief period of some
population increases, the right whale population has been steadily declining since 2010. Id. The
Conservation Law Foundation has long been engaged in efforts to protect and promote the
recovery of the right whale. Those efforts have included challenges to proposed oil and gas lease
VDOHV RQ WKH RXWHU FRQWLQHQWDO VKHOI HQJDJHPHQW L
resources through participation, negotiation, and litigation, engagement in ensuring the
successful development and implementation of the Northeast Regional Ocean Plan and
associated Northeast Ocean Data Portal, and collaborative work with offshore wind energy
developers to protect right whales from risks associated with offshore wind development off the
coast of New England.

7KH &RQVHUYDWLRQ /DZ )RXQGDWLRQ DQG LWV PHPEHUYV
declining abundance, the troubling number of recent mortalities, the pervasive threats and habitat
destruction associated with commercial fishing, andreg XODWRUVY IDLOXUH WR WDNH |
PDQDJHPHQW DFWLRQ DOO RI ZKLFK MHRSDUGL]H WKH VSHFL
year, 2017, has been a particularly deadly year, with at least seventeen confirmed right whale
mortalities 2 equivalent to about 3 percent of the population.® An alarming number of these
deaths were females and only a small percentage of the remaining females regularly bear calves.’

DHV SLWH ekBtjifg §fforts to avoid right whale deaths and injuries, many activities
including commercial fishing continue to threaten the right whale population, and existing

> See NMFS, Guidance for Carrying Out Endangered Species Act (ESA) Section 7 Consultations with NMFS
Greater Atlantic Regional Fisheries Office 6-7, available at
https://www.greateratlantic.fisheries.noaa.gov/protected/section7/guidance/consultation/garfo_esa_section_7_techni
cal_guidance_050216.pdf.

6 See NMFS, 2017 North Atlantic Right Whale Unusual Mortality Event (Oct. 31, 2017),
http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/health/mmume/2017northatlanticrightwhaleume.html.

7 HEATHER M. PETTIS ET AL., NORTH ATLANTIC RIGHT WHALE CONSORTIUM 2017 ANNUAL REPORT CARD (2017),
available at http://www.narwc.org/pdf/2017%20Report%20CardFinal.pdf [2017 Report Card].

!
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conservatioomeasuesare inadequate farevent extinction.If NMFS does not take action
within sixty days toremedytheviolationsalleged hereinve will pursue litigation. Ware
availableto discusghis matterand seek a mutually acceptable solutiwat avoids litigation.

BACKGROUND

Simultaneously with this notic€LF and Earthjusticéiled aseparaté&Notice of
Violations and Intent to File Suit under the Endangered Species Act” pertaining to the American
lobster fishery.That noticdetter describeNMFS’s unreasonable reliance on a 2014 biological
opinion purporting to analyze the effects of thenérican lobster fishery on right whales, that
fails toinsure that the ongoing operation of the fishery does not jeopardize the continued
existence of right whales und&ection7, and allows unauthorized takesviolation ofSection9
of the ESA, 16 U.&£. m 1531 et seq.and also violatethe Marine Mammal Protection Act, 16
U.S.C. o 1371(a), 1387.

On October 20, 2017, NMFS announced the completion efeabreview for the right
whale assessing developments in science and management farvadds from 2012
20172 The5-Year Reviewcitedsignificant new scientific informatioan thelong-term
detrimentaleffect of chronic entanglement on right whale health and reproduandmn right
whale population declin@nddescribechew factual inbrmationon the significant mortality
eventthat occurredn 2017.See5-Year Review at 1:21. Itconcluded with a series of
recommendationfor right whale recovery over the next five years, includimgcommendation
to “evaluate the current status of the species and serious injury/mortality triggers in biological
opinions for commercial fisheries consultations uriSiection 7of the Endangered Species Act
to determine if renitiation is warranted Seead. at 25(recomnendation20179).

Regardless of whether NMFS reinitiates consultategardinghe lobster fishery and/or
theothercommercial fisheries alluded to (but not identified) in Hg&ar Review, it must
separatelyand immediatelynsurethat the OHAZ2 is nilikely to jeopardize the continued
existence of right whales or adversely modifgir habitat NMFS’s proposed actionwould
open several thousand square miles of previously closed ocean to fisheries under NMFS’s
authorization andversight® NMFS has not initiated consultation for this action even though
the OHAZ2 FEIS fully acknowledges that right whales are in the action area, may be affected, and
negative impacts could occi8eeOHA2 FEIS Vol. | at 452, 4647.See als®OHA2 FEIS Vol.

IV at 340, 346, 361, 39Zurther,the OHA2 FEIS does not includay analysis of the impacts

8 0n October 2, 2017, the Center for Biological Diversity, Defenders of Wildlife, The Humane Society of the United
States, and Whale and Dolphin Conservation also filed a “Sixty-Day Notice of Intent to Sue ov#fiolations of
Sections 7 and 9 of the Endangered Species Act Related to Entanglements of North Atlantic Right Whales.”

9 SeeNMFS,NORTHATLANTIC RIGHT WHALE (EUBALAENA GLACIALI$5-Y EAR REVIEW: SUMMARY AND
EVALUATION (Oct. 2017)available athttp://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/Status%20Reviews/final_narw_5
year review 2017.pdb-Year Review].

10 SeeOHA2 FEIS Vol. VI at 183 (“The Omnibus Habitat Amendment 2 regulates all fishermen with federal
permits allowing the holder to fish in the federal waters off Southern New England, Georges Bank, and the Gulf of
Maine.”).
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of increased dredging by the Scallop fishery or the Atlantic Surfclam and Ocean Quahog fishery

on right whale habitayet statesW KDW 2QRQH R WdkRégivb fisbevesidle SRalyad Q W L
DGYHUVHO\ PRGLI\ RU GHVWUR\ GHVLJQONARMKEIEVALVEL FDO KDEI
450. 7TR FRPSO\ ZLWK WKH (6$ LWV UHIJXODWLRQV DQG 10)61TV
must meet statutory consultaticeguirenents regarding the effects of all fisheries directly

addressed or affected bye OHA2 and, if appropriate, issue new a biological opinion(s) that

determines whether the OHAZ2 is likely to jeopardize the continued existence of right whales or

result in the destruction or adverse modification of their halge#16 U.S.C. = 1536; 50 C.R.

a 402.16.

If jeopardy or adverse modification is found, NMFS must specify reasonable and prudent
alternatives to avoid the likelihood of jeopardg. U.S.Cx 1536(b). And if the action may
result in the take of right whales, the agency must i€3@@ LQFLGHQWDO WDNH VWDWH
specfies a permissible take levédl. @ 1536(b).

Moreover,onceNMFS initiatesa consultationthe prohibitions of Section 7(d), 16
U.S.C.a 1536(d), applyand NMFS may not make an irreversible and irretrievable commitment
of resources that foreclasthe formulation orimplementation of reasonable and prudent
alternativesSee als®ceana v. Bureau of Ocean Energy Managen®@ht.Supp.3d 147, 145
76 (D.D.C, 2014) (Section 7(d) bars an agency from irreversibly or irretrievably committing
resources during the consultation to ensure status quo until such time as a jeopardy determination
is completed under section 7(ajjjomas v. Petersoid53 F.2d 754, 764 WK &L U 3,1 D
project is allowed to proceed without substantial compliance with those procedural requirements,
WKHUH FDQ EH QR DVVXUDQFH WKDW D YLRODWLRQ RI WKH (¢
(citing TVA v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153 (1978

APPLICABLE LAW

A. Endangered Species Act

Under ESASection D $>H @ D FK |shalH. Uibs@rethak ldry Bdtion
authorized, funded, or carried out by such agencys.not likely to jeopardize the continued
existence of any endangered species or threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse
PRGLILFDWLRQ RI >FULWLFDO @ K DEI6W)RWerhagiXa&dded);SBIFLHV -~
CF.R.n402.14a 7KH REOLJDWLRQ WR 3LQVXUH  DJDLQVW D OLNH
modification requires thagencyto give the benefit of the doubt to endangered species and to
place the burden of risk and uncertainty on the proposed adtf@substantive duty imposed
by Section7(a)(2) is constant, relieved only by an exemption from the Endangered Species
Committee. 16 U.S.C. & 1536(h).

Compliance with the procedural requirements of the E&#aking the determination of
the effects of thaction through the consultation procéss integral to compliance with the
substantive requirements of the Act. Under ¢iiggutoryl UDPHZRUN IHGHUDO DFWLRQ
DIITHFW" D OLVWHG VSHFLHV RU FULWLFDO kierédbygieyVv PD\ QRW
ensures, through completion of the consultation process, that the action is not likely to cause
jeopardy or adverse modification of critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. @ 1536(a); 50 C.F.R. oa 402.14,

|
" 1
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402.13;American Rivers v. U.S. Army Corps of Emgrs 271 F.Supp.2d 230, 262 (D.D.C.

2003) (enjoining Army Corps of Engineers from implementing management plan for river basin
where plaintiffs established likelihood of success on the merits of claims that supplemental
biological opinion was flawed ar@orpsfpoperating plan violatethe ESA andAdministrative
Procedure Agt *UHHQSHDFH Y 1DWY{O 0D08 ECStpp. 2 X0B6LW D\WadhU Y
2000) (enjoining oceahottom fishing untilSection7(a)(2) consultation was compldiestating:

3n theabsence of a completed comprehensive biological opinion NMFS has not, and cannot,
insure that continued fishing in designated critical habitat will not result in harm to endangered
6WHOOHU).VHD OLRQV ~

As described above, the consultation process bégdL WK WKH DFWLRQ DJHQF\Y
GHWHUPLQDWLRQ WKDW WKH DFWLRQ *PD\ DIIHFW"™ D OLVWHG
ILQGLQJ RI 3PD\ DIIHFW™ LV HIWUHPHO\ ORZ $ WULJIJHULQJ H
possible effect, whether beficial, benign, adverse, or of an undetermined character, triggers the
formal consultation requirement. ~ FED. REG. 19,926, 19,949 (June 3, 1988ge alsdJ.S.

Fish and Wildlife Service & NMFE:.ndangered Species Consultation Handbodk Mar.

, I D SURSRVHG DFWLRQ 3PD\ DIITHFW™ D OLVWHG VSHFLH)
FRQVXOWDWLRQ LV UHTXLUHG XQOHVYV 10)6 FRQFXUV LQ ZUL\
SURSRVHG DFWLRQ 3LV QRW O Lpétia3 odasRynaxésl CriticAMEQ&EOD | |HF W ™ (
& )5 Tt D D 7KLV LQIRUPDO FRQVXOWDW
discussions and correspondence between the Services and the action agency and is designed to
assist the action agency intelenining whether fomal consultation is require80 C.F.R. o
402.13(a). Intra-Service consultations use the same legal standaegsEndangered Species
Consultation Handboo&t 1-5. $Q DFWLRQ LV 3OLNHO\ WR DGYHUVHO\ DIIH
forPDO FRQVXOWDWLRQ LV UHTXLUHG LI *DQ\ DGYHUVH HIIHFV
indirect result of the proposed action or its interrelated or interdependent actions, and the effect is
QRW GLVFRXQWDEOH L Q\Endapdered SpeQds CdriultaibniHandbedkD O -~
xv. In fulfilling theseSection7 consultation duties, agencies are required to use the best
scientific andcommercial data availablé6 U.S.C. @ 1536(a)(2).

In addition, an agency must reinitiate Section 7 c@dWW DWLRQ ZKHQHYHU D 3WI
VSHFLILHG LQ WKH LQFLGHQWDO WDNH VWDWHPHQW LV H[FHI
action that may affect listed species or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously
FRQVLGHUHG éntilieéd dctioh\e KubsegBently modified in a manner that causes an
effect to the listed species or critical habitat that was not cobsidl& LQ WKH ELRORJLFDO
50 CF.R. © 402.16.

Even after the procedural requirements of a consultation are complete, the ultimate duty
to insurethat an activity does not jeopardize a listed species lies with the action agency. Thus,
the substantive duty not to jeopardize listed species (or adversdify critical habitat) remains
in effect regardless of the status of the consultatioRLRSDUG\ LV IRXQG ZKHQ 3DQ DF
reasonably would be expected, directly or indirectly, to reduce appreciably the likelihood of both
the survival and recovery aflisted species in the wild by reducing the reproduction, numbers,
RU GLVWULEXWLRQ .RR. WADOZ. VhisHukralysis/requiresfNMFS to consider the
aggregate effects of past and present activities to establish an environmental lihsehdegect
and direct effects of the proposed action, the impacts of all reasonably certain future activities, to

|
" 1
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determine whether the totality of these factors likely jeopardizes survival and reddvery.

402.14(g), 402.02. If NMFS concludes thgiroposed action is likely to jeopardize a listed

species or result in adverse modification of its critical hailsit-S must propose reasonable

DQG SUXGHQW DOWHUQDWLYHV 353%" WR PLWLJDWH WKH SU
adverse modication of critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. o 1536(b)(3).

Separately, ES/&ection7(d) prohibits federal agencies, after the initiation of

consultation under ES8ection7(a)(2), from making any irreversible or irretrievable
commitment of resources if d@rso would foreclose tHermulation andmplementation of
reasonable and prudent alternatives. 16 U.SX538(d) This prohibition is not an exception to
the requirements @ection7(a)(2); it remains in effecturing the consultation process amtil
the requirements @ection7(a)(2) are satisfie(b0 C.F.R. @ 402.09and it ensures th&ection

D TV VXEVWDQW LSeH NP Sldp&sHoauigh L NANBrdss F. Supp. 332, 354
(D.D.C.),order vacated in part sub ngmat'l Wildlife Fed'n v. AndrugD.C. Cir. July 8, 1980),
and afffl in part, revfl in part ) G '"& &LU 37TKXV RQFH D V C
arises, the consultation process is activated, s 7(d) is effective, and resources may not be
committed in violation of ti$ section.Any other interpretation would defeat the legislative
purposes underlying the amendments to the Endangered Species Act, and undermine the
HITHFWLYHQHVY RI WKH (QGDQJHUHG 6SHFLHV &RPPLWWHH °

Under Section Qhe ESA also makes it unlawfulRU DQ\ SHUVRQ WR 3SWDNH DQ
>HQGDQJHUHG®@ VSHFLHV™ ZLWKLQ WKH 8QLWHG 6WDWHV RU
ZLWKRXW DXWKRUL]DWLRQ 8 6 & *t D % & S7TDNH
SKDUDVV KDUP SXUVXHIill,kKapQcaptund KoRdaINLt, & RoXate@ptddgage
LQ DQ\ VXFKIIFRQGXFWDUP LQFOXGHV 3VLJQLILFDQW KDELWDE
degradation where it actually Kills or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential
behavioralpatHUQV LQFOXGLQJ EUHHGLQJ IHHGLQJ RU VKHOWHUL
opinion concludes that a federal agency action may result in the take of an endangered species,
theagencymust issue an ITS that specifies a permissible take level #h @K GHV 3SUHDVRQDEC
prudent measures . .. necessary. WR PLQLPL]H 18 XB5IC. b REBE(B)WThe ITS
must also include any additional measures necessary to comply wittatime Mammal
Protection Act50 C.F.R. & 402.14(i).

B. Magnuson-Stevens Act

Under the MagnusoeBtevend-ishery Conservation and Managemaat, a Council
amendment is deemed approved wittinty days of the end of the comment period unless
NMFS specifically disapproves it. 16 U.S.C. @ 1854(a)(3). NMFS issomitgarly strict
schedule for reviewing proposed regulatiaihe agency ha#teen days to make an initial
evaluationjt must initiate a publicomment period diifteen to sixtydays after publishing
proposed regjation, and it haghirty days aftethat to promulgate a final ruléd. at @ 1854(b).
Giventhe length of time consultatismaytake, NMFS should initiate consultat®n
immediately.
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THE FAILURE TO CONSULT REGARDING THE EFFECTS OF OHA2 ON RIGHT
WHALES AND THEIR HABITAT VIOLATES SECTION 7 OF THE ESA

A. North Atlantic Right Whales Are Critically Endangered and Face Ongoing Threats
From Commercial Fishing And Other Human Activities

North Atlantic right whales are critically endangeradd new models estimattee
populationat458animals(Pace et al. 2017)Althoughthe specietasbeenlisted under the
ESA since 1973t has reverrecoveredandexpertsnow predict itcould be functionally extinct
in 20 years The North Atlantic Right Whale Recovery Plan (2005) contains comprehensive data
onthebiology of and threats to right whalglsowever, moreecent scientific informatiors
DYDLODEOH LQ -YeaR§wewd(ZDU7Havidthiorth Atlantic Right Whale
Consortium 2017 Report Card@ hese ew sources citscientific studies demonstinag thatright
whales have been on a steady decline since @HdEe et al. 2017¢ntanglement deaths account
for 85 percent of diagnosed mortalities (Kraus et al. 2G&)chronic entanglement in
commercial fishing gear is a significant energetic stressoc#usteseproductive failurand
reduced survivabilityn the remaining females (van der Hoop e®atl7)

Right whale dtical habitat wadirst designatedn Cape Cod Bay and the Great South
Channel in 1994iue to the/ H D urigdtahfte as spring and summer foraging grouses59
FED. REG. 28805 (June 3, 1994 alsodesignatingnearshorevaters off Georgia and Florida as
critical habitat due tds importance as winter calving and nursery groundisthe Northeast,
right whales typically congregate in the Great South Channel and northern edge of Georges
Bank, Massachusetts Bay and Eastern Cape Cod Bay, the Bay of Fundy, and the southeastern
ScotianShelf to feed on copepods, before migrating to Georgia and Florida to calve in the
winter. Seeb-Year Review at 1:34. NMFS expanded itsght whale critical habitatlesignation
in 2016to includeapproximately 29,768quare nautical milesf marine hatiat in the Gulf of
Maine, Georges Bank, amdbng the Southeast coaSee81 FED. REG . 4837 (Jan. 27, 2016); 50
C.F.R. ©226.203. Recentlyright whaledistribution and habitat use has shifted northwzaadd
right whales have been documented in the central Gulf of Maine, as well as Roseway Basin and
Grand Manan basin (Canadian waters) even in the winter months (Cole et al. 2013; Brillant et al.
2015; Bort et al. 2015)Threatgto right whale habitat ideified in the5-Year Reviewinclude
oil and gas developmentoise pollution, dredgingnd contaminantSeeb-Year Reviewat 15
16.

To addresshe major threatdo right whale$ entanglements and ship strikeBIMFS
has takera number of actionsThesenclude (1) theALWTRP (see62 FeD. REG. 39,157 (July
22, 1997; see alsdlaking of Marine Mammals Incidental to Commercial Fishing Operations;
Atlantic Large Whale Take Reduction Plan Regulations and subsequent amerairfs@nts
C.F.R. ©229.33; (2) Fedeal Regulations Governing the Approach to North Atlantic Right
Whales(see69 FeD. REG. 69,536 (Nov. 30, 2004, see als®0 CF.R. aa222.32 and 217.32
and (3)Final Rule to Implement Speed Restrictions to Reduce the Threat of Ship Collisions with
North Atlantic Right Whalegsee73 FeD. REG. 60,173 (Oct. 10, 2008; see alsd-inal Rule to
Implement Speed Restrictions to Reduce the Threat of Ship Collisions with North Atlantic Right
Whales 50 CF.R. ©224.109. However, after 10 yeamsith theserules in effectboth ship
strikes ancentanglement rates in commercial fishing geanain highand NMFSadmitsthat

|
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existing regulatory measuraseinadequatéo meet recovery criteri&eeb-Year Review a8-
10, 1720.

In 2017 an unprecedented number of mortalities caused the |lossrefthar8 percent
of theright whalepopulatior? at leastL7 known right whale deaths occurred including 12
documentedn Canadian waterand5 in waters of the dited States In addition to lethl
SWDNHV™ WKDW H[FHHG WKH SRW Hf@rVighttvDaleshéwG&ehtiffeDO UHPRY
information demonstrates a steady decline in condition over théhp@gtlears (Rolland et al.
2016) anda40-percent decline in reproductive output (Ksaat al. 2016), in large part, from
sublethal entanglement3.hese factorthreaten the continued existence of right whebess-
Year Review at 2@21.

In this contextpneright whaledeath could jeopardize the continued existence of right
whales NMFSYV FDUHIXO DQG WKRURXJK FRQV o2t OBAZINRQ RI WKH
right whaleshrough the Section 7 consultation prodsssf paramount importancandis
required by federal lawindeed NMFS concludedong before recent eventlat the loss or
decrease in reproductive capacity of a simgtividualis likely to reduce the likelihood of
survival and recovery of the speci€&e69 FeD. REG. 30,857, 30,858 (June 1, 2004).

B. The OHA2 Reduces the Size and Scope of CurreRtotections for Right Whales

The OHAZ2 revisesthe system of closed areas that restrict certain types of fishingngear
the Northeastliminates or modifiesseveral large yeaiound groundfish and habitat closures
(includingsomethat have beenlosed br more thartwentyyearg to provide increased access to
fisheries and includes other fishery management measures that will affect right wiakes
fisheries that will change as a resultlod CHA2, and therefore are addressed by this nptice
include thegroundfish fishery, Sea Scallop fishery, Monkfish fishery, Atlantic herring fishery,
Red Crab fishery, and Skate fishery, Sudr@ andOceanQuahog fisheryand theAmerican
lobster fisherySeeOHA2 FEISVol. IV at 336. As proposed,he acion revisesprotections in
five subregions: Eastern Gulf of Maine, Central Gulf of Maine, Western Gulf of Maine,
Georges Bank, and Great South Channel/Southern New England.

Across theNortheast, the proposedduce currently protected areas by 60 perc&de
OHAZ2 FEISVol. | thl. 37. In the western Gulf of Maine, 25 percent of the area currently closed
is proposed to be reopendd. On Georges Bank, 80 percent of the currently protectedaaltea
bereopenedid., (and what remains will be open to some fishing gear, including scallop dredges,
clam dredges and trawlshn the Great South Channel and Southern New England, the action
eliminates the Nantucket Lightship Habitat Closure AreaNettucket LightshigClosed Area
entirely, replacinghemwith a smallhabitat managemeatea that represents épercent
reduction in footprint.ld. Maps below showhe current spatial management and the proposed
spatial managemennder theproposal
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CurrentSpatial Management Proposed Spatial Management

See OHA2 Public Hearing Documetitat 35 (current spatial management); OHA2 FEi | at
61 (Map 15)

C. Risk of EntanglementRelated Injuries and Mortalities

The OHA2 FEISacknowledges thawW KH 2 +$ 3P D Yigbtiwkbhleg¥ee OHA2
FEIS Vol | at 445thl6l, DQG QRWHYV WKDW 3SWKH JUHDWHVW HQWDQJOH
E\ IL[HG ILVKLQJ JHDU H J VL Qi ald6d Oh HctonbaQlGarémtiD S SRW J
fishery managememians 3) 0 3 \M2that use bottom trawl, midiater trawl, sink gillnets,
scallop dredge, trap/pot, bottom longline, hydraulic clam dredge, purse seine, and hook and line
gear, in their fisheriesThe OHA2 FEIS notes thadink gillnet and trap/pot gear pose the
greatest risk from entanglementgse id. D W  [A] n¥ type or part of fixed gear is considered
to create an entanglement risk to large whales and should be considered potentially dangerous
Further,the OHA2 FEIS acknowledges thatpeningcertainareas could result in effort shifts
from an area where entanglement is iat an area where highenteraction risks are present,
butavoids findingharm ly repeatedly statinthat s WKH ILUVW VLJKWL QldefRiotDQ HQW |
QHFHVVDULO\ HTXDWH WR W K3e GHAR FEIQVR.IIMAK337 BBAWD QJOHP H(
OHAZ2 FEISVol. | at464-65.

11 NEw ENGLAND FISHERY MANAGEMENT COUNCIL, OMNIBUS ESSENTIAL FISH HABITAT AMENDMENT 2 PUBLIC
HEARING DOCUMENT, available at http://s3.amazonaws.com/nefmc.org/NEFM@bitatDoc-Web-1.pdf

12 gpecifically, the OHAZvould amend the Northeast Multispecies FMP, Atlantic Sea Scallop FMP, Monkfish
FMP, Atlantic Herring FMP, Red Crab FMP, Skate FMP, and the Atlantic Salmon FMP.
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Right whaledorage,travel in and useheentireaction areaandshifts in timing or
location offishing effort'® should raise concermbout entanglement, especially in light of new
information indicating the population is on a steep dedung in part, tdishingrelated
entanglement$* Risk varies by time and area and changes to extant open or closed area can,
and will, affect entanglement rat&s. It is precisely because of differences in tiraad area
specific whale and gear density that NMFS developedccorrence models to asseiggt
whale entanglement riskeeOHA2 FEIS Vol. | at 453tbl.63 (hotingthat mportant foraging
grounds forright whalesinclude Cape Cod Bay (Januahyril), Great South Channel (Apil
June), Gulf of Maine (e.g. Jordan Basin; Wilkinson Basin; Cashes Ledge, Platts Bank; April
October), northern edge oe@rgesBank (May-July)). However, theDHA2 FEIS states when
analyzingspecificgear interactions with protected resourd®K D Whot. a\éoiprehensive
review of all fishing gear types known to interact with a given specsesid. at 46368.

TheproposeddHA2 will shift fishing effort and could result in localized increases in
fishing effort. Although the information relied upon is eof-date and the analysis is inadequate,
the OHA2 FEIS2 which generally lumps right whales in with other large whales
acknowledges thllowing impacts of the proposal:

x Eastern @If of Maine #fishing behavior and effort (distribution and quantity of gear) not
expected to change substantiafiythis subregion In reliance on Waring et a2014
and 2015)the ALWTRP, andbiological ginionsfor Red Crab (NMFS 2002), Sea
Scallop (NMFS 2012), Northeast Multispecies (NMFS 2013), and American Lobster
(NMFS 2014), the FEIS concludes that operation of fisheries identifige @HA2
SPD\ DIITHFW EXW ZLOO QRW MHRISG V/GIHHLHM- RWHADRBHQR K
OHA2 FEIS Vol. IV at 340 (impacts slightly negative to neutral).

x Central Gulf of Maine + 3rap and gillnegear pose the greatest interaction risk to large
Z K D AQrHhis'subregion. OHA2 FEIS Vol. IVat 344. In relianceon Waring et al.
(2014 and 2015), and the American Lobster biological opinion (NMFS 20A4FEIS
DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW :LQWHUDFWLRQ ULVNV DUH SUHVH
particular sukregion as having high or low incidences of lang®le entanglements is

13 Although the Council claims no significant changes in overall fishing effeeQHA2 FEIS \l. IV at 336, it is

possible or even likely that effort in some portions of the commercial fishing fleet will increase as a result of

increased opportunities to harvest certain target species. For example, NMFS has allowed dogfish to be targeted by
glinHW YHVVHOV ZLWKRXW XVLQJ DQ DOORFDWHG QXPEHU RI 3GD\V DW VHD
monkfish and spiny dogfish, species primarily caught using sink gilinets. Although the FEIS did not address the

issue, the Draft Environmental Impa6tWDWHPHQW 3'(,6° IRU 2+$ QRWHG WKDW 3JLOOQHYV
FXUUHQWO\ FORVHG 1DQWXFNHW /LJKWVKLS &0RVXUH $UHDV FRXOG UHVX
FRQFOXGHG WKDW WKHUH LV 3WKH SmMWHd3ad ex@anitikelu¥e of Sk Qriargiidoded. VK LVt
gillnets into these [F@penedNantucket Lightship Closed Area, Closed Area I, and Closed Area Il] areas during the

RSHQ WLPHV Bé¢e®@HAHDERSDV®I. 3, at 700 (October 1, 2014).

14 SeeHayes etl. (2017) at 11.See als®017 Report Card at 2;83; 5Year Review at 142, 1820, 22.

sSee,(F 3$QDO\WLV RI WKH ,PSDFWV RI $SOWHUQDWH 0DQ@tudehPeHQW OHDVXUH
6FRUHY" SUHVHQWHG WR WKH $igtich DéawADFil 2010, JildstrétibgQHdt 7sk te Wh&lés 6f
entanglement varies with time and agpeecific closures and/or other riskduction scenarios.

!
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QRW SRVVLEOH® EHFDXVH 3WKH ILUVW VLIJKWLQJ RI D OD
QHFHVVDULO\ HTXDWH WR WKS$teR. dtl336 @verdll WipattsHQWDQJO'|
slightly negative to neutral)Also conclues WKDW WKH 2+$ 3PD\ DIITHFW  E X\
jeopardize the continued existence of any HiS#ed marine mammals because the

operation of the fisheriesill not changen a significant mannetd.

X WesternGulf of Maine +3JLOOQHW DQG WUDS rididdD $¢ri@uR wjury\Whd H JUH D
PRUWDOLW\ WR O D U-ldgian due @KL I1Q WKLIV\GMREH" RI REVHU
PDULQH PDPPDO LQWHUDFWLRQVRA XK UHQBI®HRI JHIDWS DX
marine mammalsSeeOHA2 FEIS Vol. IV at 359.In reliance on the same ALTWRP
andbiological opiniongdentified above, the FEIStateghat quantifying the risko right
whalesin the Wester GOM is not possiblad., and operation of fisheries in the region
SPD\ DIITHFW EXW ZLOO QR WwfR6A Rtedipetied af maknd H[LVWHQF |
mammals. Id. at 361 (impacts slightly negative to neutral). The impacts of allowing
bottom trawl effort to shift into the deeper waters on the modified Eastern edge of the
Western Gilf of Maine Closure ared wherelargewhadesmigrate? is not analyzed at
all. Seed. at 361.

X Georges Banktthis subregion regionisDQ DUHD Rl 3KLJK REVHUYHG PDUL
bycatch " OHA2 FEIS Vol. IV at374,and 3 WUDSV SRVH WKH JUHDWHVW UL\
id. at 372. Acknowledging thattrap gear and large whales-cocur in tle Georges
Bank subregion, theOHA2 FEIS again states that interaction risks are impossible to
qguantify.ld. However, @ening Closed Areas | and Il will change patternBshiing
effort and could result in moreegr fishedmore vesselen Georges Bankd. at 373.

There will be negative impacts if effort shifts from regions with fewer interactions than
Georges Bank (any stiegion inthe Gulf of Maineor eventhe Mid-Atlantic region) to

take advantage of newly @ssible fishing ground&d. at 373374. In addition, fixed

gear can be used in the proposeabithtManagemenfreas with no restrictions, and

SWUDS ILVKHUPHQ FRXOG DGMXVW W K Hibbttomkending L W\ G X H
JHDIW. -

x Great Soth Channel+in thissusUHJLRQ 3WUD SV DFRFX U L2 VEKHOWDW/UBR ZK
and interaction risks are preselat.at 382. Under the proposahanges in gillnet and
bottom trawl effortareexpectedid. D W 3* LOOQHWYV DQG WUDSV SRVH
LQMXU\ DQG PRUWDOLW\ ULVN iV RheDBIARREIFZdg8ISdesd” LQ WK
thatinteraction riskareimpossible to quantifyld. If boththeexisting Nantucket
Lightship Closed Arearal Habitat Closure Area are removad,proposeceffort shifts
IURP UHJLRQV RI ORZHU PDULQH PDRHMWher®@ WHUDFWLRQ\
encounters are more frequgernhere will be negativenpactson marine mammaldd.

The OHA2 DEIS discussed the risk of entanglement in the Great South Channel/Southern New
England under the proposal in greater detail than the analysis in the FEIS:

If large mesh (e.g. monkfish, skates) gillnet effort shifts into the newly opened
areas ader any of the action alternatives@pthat could create additional
interactions and/or shift interactions from the present location near the

!
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western/southwestern border into a new one (e.g., around Nantucket Shoals).
Specifically, gillnet effort shifténto the currently closed Nantucket Lightship
Closure Areas could result in placing gear in the path of traveling whales.
However, it is unknown to what extent effort and gear use would shift, and how
that would impact relative risk to large whales.

OHAZ2 DEIS(October 1, 2014Yol. 3 at 498. This uncertainty is overlooked in the FEIS in
favor of simply assuming the risk would not increase.

D. Biological Opinions Assume Current Closuresand Are Not Basedon the Best
Available Science

The take of aingle individual right whale at this point is likely to jeopardize the
continued existence of right whaJg®t the change in size and management of previously closed
areas was not considered under the cited biological opinions, making this analysgeobsol
%HFDXVH VXFK FKDQJHV ZRXOG 3PRGLI>\@" WKH PDQDJHPHQYV
HITHFW WR WKH & bdmittétl Ghroughdir tHI@HA2 FEIS2 NMFS must reinitiate
consultationsSees0 C.F.R. @ 402.16.

TheOHA2 FEIS cites Waring et a{2014 and 2015), the ALWTRP, and biological

opinions for Red Crab (NMFS 2002), Sea Scallop (NMFS 2012), Northeast Multispecies (NMFS
DQG $PHULFDQ /REVWHU 10)6 IRU LWV FRQFOXVLRQ

but will not jeopardize the RQWLQXHG H[LVWHQFH RI DQ\ (6% OLVWHG VSt
SeeOHAZ2 FEIS Vol. IV at 340, 346, 36 INMFS simply cannot rely ortheanalysis in the
OHAZ2 FEIS of fisheries interaction riskksr many reason, includintpattheydo not considethe
effectsof opening previously closed areasavoid 1 0 ) 6 fl&gal duty to engage iconsultation
See e.gOHA2 FEIS Vol IV at 339 For example, the Northeast Multispecies Biological
Opinion issued in December 20tBevaluate the effects of several FMIPSESAlisted whales
assumes that existing management closures will remain in place and acknowledges that existing
FORVXUHYV 2P D \lisgdd @iddiesdu¢ Gatelimination of active gear in areas where . . .
FHWDFHDQV SeeBatcidd Biglby@Mdpinion for 7 FMPs (NER0121956) at 185.
7KH DJHQF\ IXUWKHU VWDWHYV WKDW 3LI FORVXUHYV VKLIW HIII
density of ESAlisted marine mammals, sea turtles, or fish then risk of interaction could actually
L Q F U HdD Bdded on the existing closures and other management measures, NMFS concluded
that the FMPs would not jeopardize right whales, humpbacks, or otheligE&dspecies.
Further, thebiological opinionexplicitty UHTXLUHYV 10)6 WR UHL QthegeDdyY H FRQV .
action is subsequently modified in a manner that causes an effect to the listed species or critical
KDELWDW QRW FRQVLG@EHIBAIG LQ WKLV 2SLQLRQ °

The OHAZ2 FEISalsounreasonablyelies on the ALWTRP The ALWTRPand its
adjustment® similarly donot addresthe revised boundaries the potential for increasethkes
of right whales from gillnet fishing in areas previously clgsaden though right whales sustain

16 SeeFinal Rule, 79ED. REG. 36,586 (Jun. 27, 2014). Recent adjustments include the sinking groundline and
vertical line rulesSee80 Fed. Reg. 14,345 (Mar. 19, 2015);RD. ReG. 30,367 (May 28, 2015).

!
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mortality and serious injuries at rates much higher than their PotBrdlagical Removal Level
and at least eight right whale entanglement cases were documented between 2010 and 2012
involving gear consistent with gillnet$. Although hefinal EnvironmentalAssessmerfor the

most recent adjustmertis the ALWTRP(2015)provides a cursory overview of thOHA2

action it provides no analysis oisk to right whales fronshifts and localizethcreass in

fishing effortcaused by the proposyl

In addition these biological opinions aret based on the best availab@encebecause
they do not incorporatelarge body of new science recently identified inclucingence
demonstratinghat chronic entanglements have a lbegn detrimental effect on right whale
health and reproducticand contribute to population daoli Seeb-Year Review at 112, 19
21. This allows theDHA2 FEIS analysis to come to the opposite (and incorrect) concluSaen.
OHA2FEIS Vol , DW [A]t tRis time, there is no further evidence to make the conclusion
that fishing gear entanglemeadbne cauge] D GHFOLQH LQ ODUJH ZKDOH KHDOW
WKH 2JURZLQJ ERG\ RI OLWHUDWXUH >WKDW@ KDV GHYHORSF
RQ ULJKW ZKDOH KHD O W KY&QRaviewdestibeEs)stitlies BnQleclivibgyb
condition (Pettis et al. 2017), energetic stressors (van der Hoop et al. 2017, Rollagd1,al
Kraus et al. 2016), and low calf production (Hayes et al. 2017, Pace et al. 2017). Only 5
documented calves were born in 20%@e2017Report Card a5, tbl.3. New consultations are
required on this basis alone.

E. Risk of Destroying or Adversely Modifying Critical Habitat

The OHA2 FEIS does not addreise impacts of increased dredging (scallop and clam)
in key foraging areas on Georges Bank and in the Great South Ctizatneill result from
opening currently closed areas, itettatesW KDW 3QRQH RI WKH *UHDW®HU $WODQ
are likelytR DGYHUVHO\ PRGLI\ RU GHVWUR\ GHVLIJQ@&WHAL FULWLF
FEIS Vol | at 450. 3& U L W L F D Oddfiiz& asvsd@réa octupied by an endangered species
containing physical or biological features essential to the conseredtiba species which may
UHTXLUH 3VSHFLDO PDQDJHPHQW FRQVURBRAYGBNL). RBPtherRU SURW
SGHVWUXFWLRQ RU DGYHUVH PRGLILFDWLRQ RI FULWLFDO KD
appreciably diminishes the valoécritical habitat for the conservation of a listed spe&és.

17 SeeHayes et al (2017).

18 SeeNMFS, MODIFICATIONS TO THEATLANTIC LARGE WHALE TAKE REDUCTION PLAN, FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL
ASSESSMENT31 (May 2015), available at

https://www.greateratlantic.fisheries.noaa.gov/protectealstip/docs/final_ea for web.pdf *+RZHYHU VLQFH
overall fishing effort is unaffected by this action (only spatial distribution) and given the Team's prioritization of
reducing entanglement risk in trap/pot gear, it is unlikely that this action warlebise the entanglement risk to

large whales. Despite the outcome of the Omnibus Habitat Amendment, the requirements of the Plan agreed upon by
the Team will remain in place, including the use of sinking groundline on all fixed gear, vertical line reductio
PHDVXUHY ZHDN OLQN UHTXLUHPHQWY DUHD FORVXUHV HWF ~

1t is hard to know whether this conclusory statement is an attempt to distance NMFS from the American Lobster
and surf clam and quahog fisheries managed by the Atlantic States Marine Fisharias§ion, or whether it is a
conclusion that none of the fisheries that operate in waters affected by the OHA2 will adversely modify right whale
habitat. Regardless, consultations on all relevant fisheries are required.

!
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C.F.R. @ 402.02 Such alternations may include, but are not limited to, those that alter the
physical or biological features essential to the conservation of a species or preclude or
significantly dely development of such featuréd.

A copy of a map developed by Council staff which overlays right whale critical habitat
with the OHA2 proposal is provided below.

Obtained by personal communications with KIEFMC staff Michelle Bachman Email dated
September 11, 2015

Increased opportunities for scallop and hydraulic clam dretftgogld alsdncrease
turbidity andreduceprey availability which constitute threat toright whale habitatSee e.g
5-Year review at 16nptingdredgingas a threat

TheOHA2 )(,6 DFNQRZOHGJHV WKDW WKH 3&DSH &RG %D\ DQC
designated as critical habitat for North Atlantic right whales due to their importance as
VSULQJ VXPPHU IRUDJLQJ JURRQEDV MG WHKDIW MWRODHOV HGWHA W I
dense concentrations of copepdfiseOHA2 FEISVol. | at 449. Yet, in making itdinding that
the OHA2 isnot likely to destroy or adversely modifight whalehabitat, the OHAZEIS states
withoutsupportWKDW 3&RXQFLO ILVKHULHY ZLOO QRW DIIHFW WKH L
right whales because copepods are too small to be captured in fishing gear, nor will any of the
Council fisheries affect any of the other physical or biological featuresveratidentified as
HVVHQWLDO IRU FRQVHUYDWLR QSexd. atl45& Whig iginfesithe 2aQ W KHV H
that dredgingould both adversely affect the bottom and increase the sedimentation and turbidity
of the water column affectingght whaleprey. Seee.g, 5-Year review at 1;6Baumgartner et al

ILQGLQJ WKDW 3ULJKW ZKDOHV XVH WKH HQWLUH ZDWH

0See2+$ )(,6 $SS ' DME of thisgear in the region is managed under the federal FMP for surf clams
and ocean quahogs developed by the [Kilhntic Fishery Management Council]. The gear is also used in state
waters in the MidSWODQWLF UHJLRQ °

!
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A new scientific stug demonstratethat tydraulic clam dredging isne of, if notthe,
most damaging gesito the sea floaf! The FEISprovides estimateof seabed habitat
vulnerability totheadverse effects from hydraulic clam dredge gears (blue=low vulnerability,
red=high vulnerability) with clusters of high vulnerability grids areioatl in red SeeOHA2
FEIS Vol. 1 at 151.This gear is used throughout right whale critical habitat,ireffects on
right whale habitat must be analyzed.

The failure to adequately analyze and consult on the action and its effects on endangered right
whales violateSection7 of the ESA.

CONCLUSION

The OHA2canreasonably be expected to reduce the likelihood of survival and recovery
of endangered North Atlantiight whales.NMFS mustmeetits duty toinsurethat ths actionis
not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of right whalesleersely modifyheir habitat
based on the best scientiind commercial datavailableby immediately initiatingformal
consultations witlthose fisheries that interact with right whales.( theNortheast Multispecies
fishery, the Atlantic Sea Scallop fishery, the Monkfish fishery, the Red Crab fishery, the Skate
fishery, the Atlantic Surf &am and Ocean Quahog fishery, and the American lobster fishéry)
NMFS does not curés violations of law described abovwgpon expiration of theixty dayswe
intendto file suit againsSNMFS pursuant to the citizen suit provision of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. &
1540(g), and other applicable laws. If you would like to discuss the significant ESA violations
described herein and seek a mutually acceptable solution to them, please contact us.

21 Hiddink et al. 2017. Globalralysis of depletion and recovery of seabed biota after bottom trawling disturbance.

vol. 114 no. 31 Jan Geert Hiddink, 8381 3'HSOHWLRQ RI ELRWD DQG WUDZO SHQHWUDWI
correlated. Otter trawls caused the least depletiomvemg 6% of biota per pass and penetrating the seabed on

average down to 2.4 cm, whereas hydraulic dredges caused the most depletion, removing 41% of biota and
SHQHWUDWLQJ WKH VHDEHG RQ DYHUDJH FP ~

!
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